## Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

6-20-2019 1:00 PM

# 'Such a Scary Place for a Kid': The Impact of Adolescent Hospitalization on Adult Psychiatric Units

Samantha McRae, The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor: Anderson, Kelly K., *The University of Western Ontario* A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Science degree in Epidemiology and Biostatistics © Samantha McRae 2019

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

#### **Recommended Citation**

McRae, Samantha, "Such a Scary Place for a Kid': The Impact of Adolescent Hospitalization on Adult Psychiatric Units" (2019). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 6399. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/6399

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

## Abstract

There is currently a lack of information on the prevalence of adolescent admission to adult inpatient psychiatry units and associated impacts. The purpose of this study was to explore the prevalence, determinants, and outcomes related to the hospitalization of adolescents aged 12 to 17 years on adult inpatient psychiatry units in Ontario. Using health administrative data, we constructed a cohort of adolescents with an inpatient psychiatric admission between 2007 and 2012. Of the 29,410 admissions over the study period, 30.3% occurred in an adult inpatient psychiatry unit. Older adolescents, males, people living in a rural area, and those with substance-related disorder or non-affective psychotic disorder were more likely to be admitted to an adult unit. Adolescents admitted to adult units were more likely to be discharged against medical advice and had a shorter length of stay. These findings help fill critical gaps in prior literature and have potential policy implications.

## Keywords

Mental disorders, adolescent, inpatient psychiatry, adult inpatient psychiatry unit

## Acknowledgments

I would like to start by acknowledging my thesis supervisor, Dr. Kelly Anderson, for her steadfast support, patience and understanding throughout my time in the graduate program. Thank-you for supporting me to pursue a career while finishing my thesis, without your encouragement and guidance I would not have reached the finish line. I am truly grateful for your mentorship and that you would always make time to chat. You have allowed me to flourish as a researcher, professional and a person and for that I am thankful.

I would also like to thank my supervisory committee, Dr. Kathy Speechley and Dr. Guangyong Zou. Thank you for the valuable contributions to this thesis through providing guidance and feedback throughout my long journey.

I would also like to thank Dr. Javeed Sukerha for meeting with me to discuss how the results from my study could impact clinical outcomes. Additionally, many thanks to my fellow graduate students for the amazing memories, support and friendship. Without you, the program would not have been the same.

A very special thank-you goes out to my husband, family and friends for your encouragement and unyielding support. Mike - thank you for supporting me to pursue another graduate degree. Without your endless love and support throughout the process I wouldn't be where I am today. Thank you to my parents and brother for always believing in me and cheering me on.

## Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgments	iii
Table of Contents	iv
List of Tables	/ii
List of Figuresv	iii
List of Appendices (where applicable)	ix
Chapter 1 : Introduction	. 1
1.1 Role of the Student	3
1.2 Thesis Structure	. 3
Chapter 2 : Literature Review	. 4
2 Chapter Overview	4
2.1 Adolescence and Transitional Age Youth	4
2.2 Mental Disorders during Adolescence	6
2.2.1 Treatment Seeking	7
2.2.2 Mental Health Treatment Setting	8
2.3 Adolescent Admission to Adult Psychiatric Units	10
2.3.1 The Policy Context	10
2.3.2 The Research Context	12
2.3.3 Youth Perspectives	13
2.3.4 Staff Perspectives	14
2.3.5 Why Might an Adult Admission be Appropriate?	15
2.3.6 Why Might an Adult Admission not be Appropriate?	16
2.4 Study Rationale	17
2.5 Study Objectives	18

C	Chapter 3: Methods					
3	3 Chapter Overview					
	3.1 Study Design					
	3.2 Data Source					
	3.3 Study Population					
	3.4 Unit of Admission					
3.5 Factors Associated with Unit of Admission						
3.6 Outcomes						
3.7 Data Analysis						
	3.7.1 Objective 1					
	3.7.2 Objective 2					
	3.7.3 Objective 3					
C	Chapter 4: Results					
4	4 Chapter Overview					
	4.1 Proportion of Admissions on an Adult Psychiatric Un	it 27				
4.2 Study Sample						
4.3 Factors Associated with Admission to an Adult Psychiatric Unit						
	4.4 Adult Admission & Hospitalization Outcomes					
C	Chapter 5: Discussion					
5	5 Chapter Overview					
	5.1 Key Study Findings					
	5.2 Policy Considerations					
	<ul><li>5.2 Policy Considerations</li><li>5.3 Future Research</li></ul>					
	<ul> <li>5.2 Policy Considerations</li> <li>5.3 Future Research</li> <li>5.4 Strengths</li> </ul>					
	<ul> <li>5.2 Policy Considerations</li> <li>5.3 Future Research</li> <li>5.4 Strengths</li> <li>5.5 Limitations</li> </ul>					

References	
Appendices	59
Curriculum Vitae	64

## List of Tables

Table 3-1: Summary of Variables for Factors Related to Adult Admission	23
Table 4-1: Sample Proportions for First Admissions	30
Table 4-2: Factors Associated with First Admission on an Adult Psychiatric Unit	32
Table 4-3: 30-Day Readmission after First Inpatient Psychiatric Admission	34
Table 4-4: Length of Stay during First Inpatient Admission	35
Table 4-5: Discharged Against Medical Advice during First Hospitalization	36

# List of Figures

Figure 4-1: Proportion of Inpatient Psychiatric Admission on an Adult Psychiatric Un	nit by
Year of Inpatient Discharge	
Figure 4-2: Proportion of Inpatient Psychiatric Admissions on an Adult Psychiatric U	Jnit by
Adolescent Age at Admission	
Figure 4-3: Sample Selection Flow Chart	

# List of Appendices (where applicable)

Appendix A: Excluded Diagnoses	
--------------------------------	--

## Chapter 1 : Introduction

Mental disorders are a major burden for adolescents world-wide in terms of cost, disability, mortality, and productivity.<sup>1–3</sup> Nearly 75% of lifetime mental disorders have their first onset during adolescence or early adulthood.<sup>4</sup> Approximately 15 to 21% of young people in Canada have at least one diagnosable mental health disorder. Without appropriate treatment, children and adolescents with mental health issues can become "more vulnerable and less resilient" with time.<sup>5</sup> The emphasis on the importance of early treatment among youth has led to a focus on adolescents and young adults, who are identified as a strategic target group provincially.<sup>6</sup> Although adolescence is defined in many different ways, operationally the definition is important for health service provision. Child and adolescent care in Ontario covers young people from birth until the day of their 18<sup>th</sup> birthday, at which point youth are expected to transition to adult services.<sup>7,8</sup> Due to the rigid age restrictions for many health and social services, the concept of "transitional age youth" has become a topic of interest. Transitional age youth can be defined as the group of people between older adolescence (15 to 16 years of age) and young adulthood (24 to 26 years of age).<sup>9,10</sup> There are many factors that make transitional age youth a vulnerable group needing attention. These young people often do not receive the specialized treatment or care they need.<sup>11,12</sup> Barriers to treatment-seeking include stigma, living in a rural area, lack of knowledge about services, and wanting to handle their symptoms on their own.<sup>13,14</sup>

Additionally, transitional age youth can experience a disruption of care or disengage from care while transitioning out of child mental health services to adult mental health services, and this disruption can have negative influences on their health.<sup>15</sup> Disengagement from services has been associated with increased risk of suicidal behaviour, an increased likelihood of hospital admission, and greater social impairment.<sup>16</sup> To add a layer of complexity to the issue, the transition to adulthood is a journey that involves deep change physiologically, psychologically, and socially for youth generally, and adding the stress of a mental disorder makes this time period even more difficult for these young people.<sup>17</sup> In addition to evidence that transitional age youth experience a decline in use of outpatient services, a study of a population-based sample in the United

States found that the use of inpatient services by transitional age youth increased over the same time period.<sup>12</sup> Canadian data shows that over a five year period there was a significant increase in psychiatric hospitalizations and mental health emergency department visits that resulted in inpatient stays. <sup>18,19</sup> This growing demand for acute psychiatric care will place a burden on the already constrained resources of hospitals, which may leave no other option but to accommodate adolescents on an adult psychiatry unit.

Internationally, England and Scotland have legislated that anyone under the age of 16 cannot be admitted to an adult psychiatric unit.<sup>20,21</sup> More locally, the Ontario Network of Child & Adolescent Inpatient Psychiatry recommends that child and adolescent psychiatric units should be separate from adult units and, where possible, adolescents should not receive care from adult psychiatric units.<sup>22</sup> Studies report that when youth were admitted to adult units, they were fearful for their safety, felt isolated, were uninvolved in decision making, and in some cases the youth felt that their condition worsened.<sup>7,23,24</sup> A survey of adult psychiatric inpatient staff found that these clinicians expressed concern over admitting a teenager in their unit due to safety issues, the heightened vulnerability of youth, psychological impact of being around many unwell adults, and the potential for maladaptive behaviours to develop.<sup>25</sup> There are also concerns when mixing youth with recent-onset mental disorders with chronic psychiatric patients, potentially exacerbating their symptoms and leading to avoidance of health services in the future.<sup>26,27</sup>

There is currently a paucity of information on the prevalence of youth admission to adult psychiatric units and the associated impacts of this practice, both nationally and internationally. The one exception is one prior Canadian study that assessed the socio-demographic and clinical factors associated with length of stay for youth between the ages of 12 and 19 years admitted to adult mental health beds in Ontario.<sup>28</sup> Stewart et al., found that length of stay was associated with age, gender, certain diagnoses, education, and discharge against medical advice.<sup>28</sup> Additionally, readmission was associated with age, living situation, and certain diagnoses.<sup>28</sup> However, this study did not estimate the prevalence of adolescent admission to adult beds among all adolescent psychiatric

admissions, or examine its impact of an adult admission on patient outcomes, relative to adolescents admitted elsewhere. To fill in this knowledge gap, the present study aimed to determine the prevalence, determinants, and outcomes related to the hospitalization of youth aged 12 to 17 years on adult inpatient psychiatric units in Ontario.

## 1.1 Role of the Student

The student was responsible for all segments of the study except the database creation. The data used for this study were obtained from the Canadian Institute for Health Information through the Graduate Student Data Access Program. The application for the Graduate Student Data Access Program was created by the student with input from the supervisor (Dr. Kelly Anderson). Consultation and guidance was provided by the student's thesis committee throughout the study (Dr. Kelly Anderson, Dr. Kathy Speechley, and Dr. GY Zou).

### 1.2 Thesis Structure

This thesis consists of five chapters. Chapter 2 provides an overview of the current literature on adolescents and transitional age youth, mental disorders during adolescence, and adolescent admission to adult psychiatric units. This leads to the study rationale and objectives. Chapter 3 provides a detailed description of the methods, including the study design, the data source, the study population, covariates, outcomes of interest, and the data analysis strategy. Chapter 4 summarizes the study findings, and Chapter 5 provides a discussion of the findings and the study strengths and weaknesses. Chapter 5 also discusses the implications the results have in relation to health policy, health system structure, and clinical practice and provides suggestions for future research.

## Chapter 2 : Literature Review

## 2 Chapter Overview

This section provides a review of the literature related to adolescent admission to adult psychiatric inpatient units. Section 2.1 discusses the definitions of adolescence and transitional age youth commonly used in the literature, and describes the parallel transitions faced by this age group. Section 2.2 gives an overview of mental disorders during adolescence, the associated help-seeking behavior, as well as describing inpatient and outpatient care. Lastly, Section 2.3 describes the current state of knowledge on adolescent admission to adult psychiatric units.

## 2.1 Adolescence and Transitional Age Youth

There are a variety of definitions of adolescence in the literature. The World Health Organization defines adolescents as young people between the ages of 10 and 19.<sup>2</sup> The Canadian Pediatric Society has chosen to use a functional definition that does not bound the period of adolescence to the person's chronological age.<sup>29</sup> This definition states: "Adolescence begins with the onset of physiologically normal puberty, and ends when an adult identity and behaviour are accepted."<sup>29</sup> Other definitions have proposed that a broader age range of 10 to 24 years old would correspond more closely with the developmental changes experienced during this time period.<sup>30</sup> Still other organizations have adopted more restrictive definitions, limiting to ages 13 to 19 years or 12 to 16 years.<sup>31–33</sup> Adolescence is also described as a "period of rapid and extensive psychological and biological growth."<sup>34</sup>

Operationally, the definition of adolescence is important for health service provision. Child and adolescent care in Ontario covers the period from birth until the date of a person's 18<sup>th</sup> birthday.<sup>7,8</sup> In the case of mental health service delivery, funding is pooled across the Ministry of Health and Long-term Care and the Ministry of Children, Community and Social Services. Other ministries also provide funding for community services that help people with mental health and addictions, such as housing, justice, youth employment, and education.<sup>5,8,35,36</sup> The Ministry of Children and Youth Services is mandated to provide care until youth reach the legal age of consent (17 years and 264 days).<sup>8</sup> Therefore, after their 18<sup>th</sup> birthday, adolescents are required to transition to adult care. Services use this strict definition of adolescence due to organizational budgetary restraints and case load restrictions, but these definitions do not necessarily take into consideration the other aspects that define adolescence.<sup>37</sup>

With the rigidity of age restrictions for child and youth services, the concept of "transitional age youth" has become a hot topic. Similar to the definition of adolescence, there is some variation regarding who is considered a transitional age youth. The United Nations Educational, Scientific, and Cultural Organization defines this group as people between the ages of 15 and 24 years who are in a period of transition from the dependence of childhood to adulthood.<sup>9</sup> Transitional age youth has also been defined as youth between the ages of 16 and 25 years.<sup>5,12</sup> However, the most inclusive definition provided by Wilens and Rosenbaum is 'the span from older adolescence (e.g. 15 to 16 years of age) to young adulthood (24 to 26 years of age).'<sup>10</sup> Within the context of health service provision, transition is described as "the purposeful, planned movement of adolescent and young adults with chronic physical and medical conditions from child-centered to adult-oriented healthcare systems."<sup>38</sup>

Due to the fact that many mental disorders have their onset during childhood or adolescence,<sup>4</sup> many transitional age youth will need to go through a transition to move from child and adolescent mental health services to adult mental health services over the course of their mental health treatment.<sup>6,39</sup> The current literature examining transition from child and adolescent mental health services to adult mental health services finds wide variation in youth who made this transition, ranging from 4% to 58%.<sup>15,40,41</sup> Transitional age youth experience a variety of barriers when transitioning to adult mental health services, including not adapting to treatment changes, long waitlists, family resistance, and poor communication.<sup>5,7,15,42–45</sup>

While transitional age youth are experiencing transitions in the health care setting, there are also many other transitions that define the period of adolescence, which adds a layer of complexity to the transition from child and adolescent services to adult services. The transition to adulthood is a journey that involves profound changes physiologically, psychologically, and socially.<sup>17</sup> During this period, there are many other developmental and life transitions that may happen including, but are not limited to: i) transitioning from high school to college or university; ii) living away from home for the first time; iii) gaining employment; iv) unplanned pregnancies; and v) changes in interpersonal relationships.<sup>5,15,17,34,46</sup> Adding to the stress of these life changes, a mental disorder can make this period even more challenging for transitional age youth.<sup>17</sup> These normal developmental transitions are often difficult for youth with mental disorders to manage, while simultaneously managing symptoms related to their disorder and transitions in health care services.<sup>1,47</sup>

## 2.2 Mental Disorders during Adolescence

According to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5), a mental disorder can be defined as a "syndrome characterized by clinically significant disturbance in an individual's cognition, emotion regulation, or behaviour that reflects a dysfunction in the psychological, biological, or developmental processes underlying mental functioning."<sup>48</sup> Mental disorders are a major burden to global health, economics, and productivity for adolescents.<sup>1,2</sup> World-wide, depression is the leading cause of illness and disability, and suicide is the 3<sup>rd</sup> most common cause of death in this age group.<sup>2</sup> In Canada, suicide is the second leading cause of death for adolescents between the ages of 15 and 19 years.<sup>3</sup>

Mental disorders will affect approximately 1 in 5 Canadians in any given year,<sup>49</sup> and nearly 75% of lifetime mental disorders have their first onset during adolescence or early adulthood.<sup>4</sup> Approximately 15 to 21% of young people in Canada have at least one diagnosable mental disorder.<sup>49</sup> The most common diagnoses in adolescents are anxiety, depression, and substance- and alcohol-use disorders.<sup>50</sup> It is estimated that the prevalence

of any anxiety disorder in a community based sample ranges from 3.1% to 17.5% during childhood and adolescence.<sup>51,52</sup> It is estimated that the prevalence of mood disorders is 11.7%, and the prevalence of any mood disorder increased nearly two-fold when comparing younger adolescents (13 to 14 years) and older adolescents (17 to 18 years).<sup>52</sup> Alcohol or substance abuse or dependence is estimated to have a prevalence between 1% to 24% in community based samples.<sup>53</sup> The age-of-onset for the most common diagnoses typically happens during the latter part of adolescence and into early adulthood.<sup>4</sup> The onset of psychotic disorders and schizophrenia also occurs throughout the latter period of adolescence (15 to 17 years) and in early adulthood.<sup>54,55</sup>

#### 2.2.1 Treatment Seeking

Among the adolescents who have a diagnosable mental disorder, only one in six adolescents receive the specialized treatment they require each year.<sup>11</sup> The annual rate of usage of any type of mental health treatment (inpatient, outpatient, or residential services) in the United States has been reported to range between 34 per 1,000 for adolescents age 16 to 17 years, and 18 per 1,000 for youth between 18 and 19 years of age.<sup>12,56</sup> Another study by Merikangas and colleagues (2011) examined life-time service utilization and found that 26.1% of youth with a non-severe mental disorder, and 47.4% with a severe mental disorder, received services over their life-time. However, these proportions differed significantly across diagnoses and severity of disorder.<sup>57</sup> Youth with a diagnosis of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (55% of non-severe disorder; 81.6% of severe disorder) or a behaviour disorder (32% of non-severe disorder; 72% of severe disorder) had higher lifetime mental health service use when compared with any substance use disorder (15.4% non-severe disorder; 15.4% severe disorder), any anxiety disorder (13.6% of non-severe disorder; 29.1% of severe disorder), and any mood disorder (37.8% of non-severe disorder; 37.7% of severe disorder).<sup>57</sup> Mental health service use was even lower for transitional age youth between the ages of 18 and 24 years.

With low levels of help-seeking among adolescents and transitional age youth, it is important to examine the barriers that may be deterring them from seeking treatment. Adolescents typically identify stigma as a reason for not seeking treatment for mental disorders.<sup>13,14</sup> This barrier was also magnified if adolescents were living in a rural community.<sup>13</sup> A systematic review found that another major concern was confidentiality, and any breach in this would cause embarrassment.<sup>13</sup> Additionally, lack of knowledge about what mental health services are available, what professionals do, and the fears associated with seeking help from a service or professional that they do not know were also cited as barriers.<sup>13</sup> Related to these themes, young people typically seek help from a trusted source, such as a family member or close friend, rather than seeking help from a mental health service or professional.<sup>14</sup> Lastly, as a result of many other transitions occurring during this time period (i.e. transition to independence), many youth believe that they should be able to handle their problems and symptoms themselves.<sup>13,14</sup>

Without timely and appropriate treatment, adolescents with mental health issues become "more vulnerable and less resilient" over time.<sup>5</sup> The emphasis on the importance of early treatment has led to a focus on adolescents in recent years, who have been identified as a strategic target group provincially.<sup>6</sup> There are many factors that make them a vulnerable group needing attention. These young people often experience a disruption of care or disengage from care while transitioning out of child mental health services to adult mental health services that can have negative influences on their health.<sup>12,15</sup> There is evidence that a poorly planned transition to adult services from child and adolescent services can be linked to increased risk of non-adherence to treatment and disengagement from services.<sup>58</sup> Disengagement from services has also been associated with increased risk of suicidal behaviour, an increased likelihood of hospital admissions, and greater social impairment.<sup>16</sup>

#### 2.2.2 Mental Health Treatment Setting

Treatment for mental health issues covers the continuum from community mental health care to hospital-based services.<sup>36</sup> Community mental health care ranges from community programs (i.e. clinics, primary care, schools, homecare, etc.) to residential treatment and outpatient clinics offered at the hospital.<sup>36</sup> Hospitals also provide services in the

emergency department or inpatient setting. <sup>36</sup> The next section will describe two prominent areas that adolescents seek mental health services.

Outpatient care is provided to people in the community through structured programs that can take place in a hospital or another facility (i.e. mental health clinic or community health centre).<sup>12,59</sup> Outpatient care can include services such as assessment, consultation, treatment, counseling, group therapy, and follow-up care.<sup>12,59</sup> Outpatient care is the preferred treatment option for many adolescents with mental health problems, as it is less restrictive and does not remove adolescents from their community, and is also associated with fewer negative psychosocial effects.<sup>60,61</sup>

Inpatient services are also a critical component of the mental health system, and are used when there is a need for diagnostic clarification or during times of crisis, suicidality, and other severe symptoms or impairment.<sup>22,61</sup> Inpatient psychiatric care has evolved over the past 30 years, with a decreasing length of stay and a focus on discharge planning to connect adolescents to outpatient services.<sup>61,62</sup> Hospitalization of adolescents with mental disorders is an important issue to consider, as it can contribute to feelings of loss of control for adolescents that they may be feeling in other aspects of their life and contribute to feelings of anxiety, loss of independence, and hopelessness.<sup>29</sup>

Youth report a variety of benefits and consequences associated with admissions to an inpatient unit. Adolescents most commonly cited socializing with peers and having peer support or feedback as providing a sense of normalcy during inpatient care.<sup>61</sup> Adolescents also reported staff as a key resource for learning coping strategies, and that they had a positive experience when staff developed a therapeutic relationship built on non-judgmental interactions.<sup>61</sup> Adolescents also appreciated when staff were caring, listened to their opinions, and showed empathy.<sup>61</sup> However, staff also contributed to negative experiences for adolescents during inpatient care, particularly when it was perceived that staff were taking the side of the family.<sup>61</sup> Additionally, negative experiences were reported when the unit failed to meet the developmental needs of the adolescent, and when the patients thought the units rules were too rigid.<sup>61</sup>

Greenham and Persi (2014) found that adolescents age 14 and older were significantly more likely to be admitted than their peers under the age of 14, with a higher percentage of those admitted being female (59%). In 2010, there were 183 child and adolescent psychiatry beds across 27 settings across Ontario representing a prevalence of 5.9 beds per 100,000 youth under the age of  $19.^{63}$ 

Additionally, Pottick and colleagues (2008) found that in a population-based sample in the United States, the use of inpatient services by transitional age youth increased over this age range. In the United States, children and adolescents represent approximately 7% of total mental health inpatient admissions.<sup>64</sup> A Canadian report suggests that among adolescents aged 15 to 17 years in Ontario, there was a 54% increase in psychiatric hospitalization between 2006 and 2011<sup>18</sup>, and a 74% increase in mental health emergency department visits resulting in inpatient stays over the same period.<sup>19</sup> A similar study conducted by the Canadian Institute for Health Information found that between 2006 and 2015, there was a 67% increase in hospitalizations for children and youth (ages 5 to 24 years) with mental disorders, while hospitalizations for other conditions decreased by 18% for this age group over the same time period.<sup>18</sup> This rising demand places a burden on the already limited resources of hospitals, which may leave no other option but to accommodate youth in an adult psychiatry unit.

## 2.3 Adolescent Admission to Adult Psychiatric Units

#### 2.3.1 The Policy Context

Globally, the issue of adolescent admission to adult psychiatric units would fall under Article 37(c) of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child, which states: "Every child deprived of liberty shall be treated with humanity and respect for the inherent dignity of the human person, and in a manner which takes into account the needs of persons of his or her age. In particular, every child deprived of liberty shall be separated from adults unless it is considered in the child's best interest not to do so and shall have the right to maintain contact with his or her family through correspondence and visits, save in exceptional circumstances." <sup>26,65</sup>

At the national level, admission of children and adolescents to adult inpatient unit has been an issue on the policy agenda.<sup>20,21</sup> England has stipulated in the Mental Health Act that anyone under the age of 18 who is admitted for a mental health issue needs to be in an age-appropriate environment.<sup>21</sup> Additionally, the legislation prohibits anyone under the age of 16 from being placed on an adult psychiatric unit.<sup>21</sup> The Mental Welfare Commission for Scotland mandates similar criteria, with the addition of a form that needs to be submitted if a child or adolescent is admitted to an adult psychiatric unit.<sup>20</sup>

More locally, the Ontario Network of Child & Adolescent Inpatient Psychiatry is a committee that represents all non-diagnosis-specific inpatient units across Ontario that has collaborated to create a standard for Child & Adolescent Inpatient Mental Health.<sup>22</sup> Ten standards have been created to guide quality of inpatient mental health care for children and adolescents, of which three recommend that child and adolescent psychiatric units should be separate from adult units and, where possible, adolescents should not receive care from adult psychiatric units.<sup>22</sup> The second standard, which focuses on access to inpatient care and discharge, states referral criteria need to be created to distinguish between an appropriate and an inappropriate admission: "Section 2.3.2. Whether and under what conditions transitional age 16 and 17 year-old adolescents should be admitted to the unit as opposed to adult mental health inpatient unit or a Psychiatric Intensive Care unit."<sup>22</sup> The third standard, which focuses on environment, rights, and dignity, states: "3.1. The child and adolescent unit should be separate from the adult unit. 3.1.1. Ideally children should receive inpatient services on child units, and adolescents on separate adolescent units rather than adult units."22 Lastly, the sixth standard focuses on health promotion activities and stipulates that the unit should provide opportunities to learn and practice good habits, including things such as school work, recreation, socialization, and personal care.<sup>22</sup>

#### 2.3.2 The Research Context

There is currently a paucity of information on the frequency of youth admission to adult psychiatric units and associated impacts of this practice, both nationally and internationally. A study conducted by Worrall et al. (2004) in England & Wales estimated that 45% of adolescent admissions (n = 2,100) were to an adult psychiatric unit each year, with 60% of these admissions deemed to be inappropriate by a panel of experts.<sup>23</sup> However, these estimates assumed that there were no eligible admissions from units that did not respond, and given the high non-response rate these numbers are likely underestimated.<sup>23</sup> Of the adolescents under the age of 18 admitted to psychiatric units between 1989 and 1995 in Northern Ireland (n = 1,021),<sup>66</sup> 43% were admitted to an adult psychiatric ward.<sup>66</sup> Limb (2014) also reports a 44.6% increase in the number of adolescents admitted to adult psychiatric units in England between 2011 and 2014.<sup>67</sup> There are currently no available data on the frequency of this practice in the Canadian context.

Despite the lack of research on the prevalence of adolescent admission to adult psychiatric units among adolescent psychiatric admissions, there are a few notable studies describing socio-demographic and clinical factors associated with youth admitted to adult inpatient psychiatric units. A Canadian study by Stewart, Kam, & Baiden (2014) described the socio-demographic and clinical factors of adolescents between the ages of 12 and 19 years admitted to adult psychiatric beds in Ontario, and examined the impact of these factors on length of stay and any readmission.<sup>28</sup> Between October 2005 and March 2010 there were 2445 adolescents admitted to adult psychiatric beds across 69 hospitals.<sup>28</sup> Adolescents admitted to adult psychiatric beds in this sample tended to be older (mean 17.7 years) with approximately equal proportions by gender. Over half of these adolescents had a primary diagnosis of mood disorders, one quarter had a substance-use disorder diagnosis, and 22% were diagnosed with schizophrenia.<sup>28</sup> The proportion of variance in length of stay that could be explained by the explanatory variables was 12.9%.<sup>28</sup> Adolescents admitted to adult psychiatric beds had a shorter predicted length of stay if they were female, discharged against medical advice, or had a diagnosis of adjustment disorder.<sup>28</sup> Adolescents admitted to adult psychiatric beds had a longer length of stay if there was an education or work disruption, older age, or a diagnosis of schizophrenia, eating disorder, personality disorder, or intellectual disability.<sup>28</sup> The second study outcome was any readmission. Youth who were older, had police involvement, those living in a group home, those with a history of sexual abuse, who had a dysfunctional family, or had a diagnosis of schizophrenia, mood disorder, eating disorder, personality disorder or intellectual disability were more likely to be readmitted.<sup>28</sup>

A study by Park, McDermott, Loy & Dean (2011) in New Zealand describes the sociodemographic factors associated with admission to an adult psychiatric unit and the association with length of stay.<sup>68</sup> Between January 2002 and December 2007, there were 332 adolescents admitted to the adult psychiatric unit.<sup>68</sup> The adolescents admitted to the adult psychiatric unit were more frequently Caucasian (57.5%) or Maori (39.4%), with a mean age of 16.5 year-old (SD = 1.1), with the most common primary diagnoses being mood disorder and psychotic disorder.<sup>68</sup> The average length of stay was 7.2 days (SD 12.6).<sup>68</sup> Boys stayed almost twice as long as girls, and involuntary admission increased the length of stay.<sup>68</sup>

However, none of these studies had a comparison group of youth admitted to pediatric or other non-psychiatric adult units, so we are unable to ascertain factors associated with youth admission to an adult unit or the consequences of this practice.

#### 2.3.3 Youth Perspectives

Although quantitative research on admission of adolescents to adult psychiatric units is limited, there are a number of small studies that examine youth experience on adult psychiatric units. A common theme cited in each of the studies was that adolescents were fearful for their safety during admission and that the admission provided a great deal of stress.<sup>26,66,7,69</sup> When adolescents are admitted to an adult psychiatric unit they are often much younger than other patients, and often describe older patients as 'unpredictable' or aggressive.<sup>26,66,69</sup> Isolation is also a common complaint by adolescents admitted to adult

psychiatric units.<sup>26,66,69</sup> Often times when describing their admission they will say that their time was spent "watching the wall, smoking cigarettes, eating, and sleeping."<sup>26</sup> Due to the age difference of other patients, there were not many activities on the unit geared to their age group, they did not feel comfortable sharing in a group setting, and most adolescents found it difficult to make friendships.<sup>26,66</sup> Another common theme reported was a lack of information provided and lack of involvement in treatment planning and discharge planning.<sup>26,66,69</sup> These concerns were also echoed by the adolescents' parents.<sup>26</sup> Adolescents wanted to meaningfully engage with staff members, but generally felt that staff members did not have the time or desire to engage with youth.<sup>26</sup> In a study by Wheatley et al. (2013) looking at the experiences of female adolescents after transferring from a secure adolescent inpatient psychiatric unit to a secure adult inpatient psychiatric unit, one of the strongest themes to emerge was the importance of therapeutic relationships between the adolescents and staff.<sup>69</sup> In a study by the Children's Commissioner for England (2007), youth who had experienced both a pediatric psychiatric unit and an adult psychiatric unit reported receiving better and more personalized care, with more activities for them to participate in, when hospitalized on a pediatric unit.<sup>26</sup>

These themes are also consistently reported in the literature of adolescents' admission to adult units, regardless of unit type or diagnosis. Adolescents report feeling out of place, having difficulty creating therapeutic relationships with staff, and fearing for their safety. They also report that these experiences may lead them to avoid the hospital in the future.<sup>29,70</sup>

#### 2.3.4 Staff Perspectives

A study conducted by Curran et al. (2011) aimed to describe the attitudes and experience of staff members working with adolescent patients admitted to adult psychiatric units.<sup>25</sup> They surveyed a variety of adult psychiatric inpatient clinical staff in Australia and found that clinicians expressed multiple concerns over admitting a teenager on their unit.<sup>25</sup> When asked whether they felt their facility was equipped to care for adolescents, 30.7%

felt they were 'not at all' equipped, followed by 57.4% feeling they were 'only a little' equipped.<sup>25</sup> In another portion of the survey, where the researchers provided clinicians with an example adolescent in a vignette, only a slight majority of clinical staff (56.4%) reported they felt moderately or very confident in treating them.<sup>25</sup> When asked what concerns they would have if the patient from the vignette was admitted to their facility, the staff cited concerns such as safety, the heightened vulnerability of youth, lack of resources, psychological impact of being around many unwell adults, the potential for maladaptive behaviours to develop, and staff lacking skills for treatment.<sup>25</sup> These findings are consistent with other research, with additional concerns cited including mixing youth with recent-onset mental disorders with chronic psychiatric patients, potentially exacerbating their symptoms, as well as concerns regarding their ability to provide activities to fit all patients' needs to avoid loneliness or boredom, and leading to avoidance of health services in the future.<sup>26,27</sup>

Although there are concerns with treating adolescents on an adult unit, 68.5% of clinicians reported that there are situations where an adult admission may be more appropriate for an adolescent even if an adolescent bed was available. These reasons include: (i) the adolescent is living an adult lifestyle (i.e. not in school, living on their own, etc.); (ii) the adolescent may be aggressive with other patients; (iii) the facility with an adult bed is closer to their family than the facility with an adolescent bed; or (iv) the admission is brief.<sup>25</sup>

#### 2.3.5 Why Might an Adult Admission be Appropriate?

Policy guidelines and research findings suggest that adolescents should not be admitted to an adult inpatient unit, however the practice can be explained by a variety of factors. For example, England has created legislation to stop placement of adolescents in adult psychiatric units, but it provides two criteria for adolescents to be admitted to an adult ward: 1) Overriding need – for the safety of the adolescent or for the safety of others; or 2) Atypical need – if clinicians feel an admission to an adult unit is more appropriate than an adolescent unit.<sup>21</sup> An example of overriding need is if there is no bed available in a child and adolescent unit and the adolescent is in crisis, then they should be admitted to an adult unit for the briefest possible time.<sup>21</sup> An example of atypical need would be if the adolescent has adult roles (i.e. is no longer in school) and would benefit from treatment on an adult unit.<sup>21</sup> Some adolescents have a need for autonomy that often is not provided in a child and adolescent inpatient setting.<sup>22</sup>

As mentioned previously, with rising rates of inpatient service utilization by adolescents, there may be no other option than to treat them on adult psychiatric units. <sup>23,71</sup> There are also cases where adolescents do not live near a hospital with a child and adolescent unit. <sup>23,71</sup> This poses the question whether separating an adolescent from their home and support system is worth the risks posed by adolescent admission to an adult psychiatric unit.<sup>71</sup>

## 2.3.6 Why Might an Adult Admission not be Appropriate?

In addition to concerns mentioned above, there are additional reasons an admission of an adolescent to an adult psychiatric unit may not be appropriate. An admission to an adult inpatient unit may not be appropriate when considering developmentally appropriate care.<sup>7</sup> Child and adolescent inpatient units often provide adolescents with services to continue their education during their admission, thereby aiding in school re-entry and providing a sense of normalcy.<sup>22,26</sup> An admission to an adult unit where adolescents may not have the opportunity to work on their education can cause added stress and lead to the adolescent falling behind in their studies. <sup>22,26</sup>

Additionally, socialization is an important aspect of adolescence, and youth report needing the opportunity to connect with peers their age.<sup>22,66,72</sup> Adolescents preferred to connect with a peer around the same age, and staff identified this as an opportunity for peer support to create a therapeutic community that can promote youth to share their experiences more openly and participate in group activities on the unit. <sup>22,66,72</sup>

A recent systematic review found that child and adolescent mental health services often take a developmental approach to providing care, tending to involve families in treatment or decision making, and provided a more nurturing environment.<sup>7,73</sup> In contrast, adult mental health services often took a more clinical approach to providing care, emphasizing patient autonomy and individual responsibility.<sup>7,73</sup> A study conducted by Richards and Vostanis (2004) report that health professionals on adult psychiatric units often did not take into account the unique social, emotional, and familial needs of youth ages 16 to 19 year when admitted to their unit.<sup>72</sup> This difference can pose a problem if adolescents rely heavily on their family during appointments and feel unprepared to address their mental disorder or make treatment decisions on their own.<sup>7,73</sup>

## 2.4 Study Rationale

There is currently a notable lack of information on the prevalence of youth admission to adult psychiatric units and the associated impacts of this practice, both nationally and internationally. The literature to date has illustrated the issue and concern for adolescent outcomes when they are admitted to adult psychiatric units. There have been several small studies that have shown adolescents report being fearful for their safety, feeling isolated, being uninvolved in decision making, and in some cases the youth feeling their condition worsened when admitted to adult units.<sup>7,24,68,71,74</sup> Additionally, studies involving staff who work on adult psychiatric units show concern with this practice and the impact this may have on future help-seeking behaviours.<sup>13,14,25,26</sup> Action has been taken in England and Scotland, where there have been changes to policy to prohibit adolescents from being admitted to an adult inpatient unit due to the potential negative impacts.<sup>20,21</sup> Not only will this study fill a critical gap in the literature related to the prevalence of adolescent admissions to adult psychiatric units in the Canadian context, it will also examine the impact of this practice on several service-related outcome measures, when compared to admission to a child and adolescent unit. Additionally, transitional age youth are highlighted as a strategic target group provincially<sup>6</sup> and nationally,<sup>75</sup> and the findings from this study can be used to inform resource allocation to

provide clinically appropriate access to inpatient psychiatric care for adolescents in Ontario.

## 2.5 Study Objectives

The purpose of this study was to determine the prevalence, determinants, and outcomes related to the hospitalization of youth aged 12 to 17 years on adult inpatient psychiatric units in Ontario. More specifically, the objectives of the study were:

- **Objective #1:** To estimate the proportion of inpatient psychiatric hospitalizations of adolescents aged 12 to 17 years that occur in an adult psychiatric unit in Ontario. This information will be useful to determine how often adolescents are admitted to adult psychiatric inpatient units in a Canadian context;
- **Objective #2**: To examine the patient-level and institutional factors that are associated with admission of adolescents aged 12 to 17 years to an adult psychiatric unit compared to admission to a pediatric or non-psychiatric unit. This information will illustrate whether a variety of patient-level and institutional-level factors influence whether an adolescent is admitted to an adult psychiatric unit or a pediatric or non-psychiatric unit;
- **Objective #3**: To compare length of stay, discharge against medical advice, and 30-day readmission for adolescents who are admitted to an adult psychiatric unit, relative to youth who are admitted to a pediatric or non-psychiatric unit. This is important because these outcome measures could demonstrate whether an admission to an adult psychiatric unit has an impact on outcomes.

## Chapter 3: Methods

## 3 Chapter Overview

This chapter describes the methods for this study, which is based on data obtained from the Canadian Institute for Health Information. Ethics approval has been obtained from the Health Science Research Ethics Board at Western University (File #109350).

## 3.1 Study Design

This study used data from a cohort of youth between the ages of 12 and 17 years who experienced an inpatient psychiatric admission in Ontario between April 1, 2007 and March 31, 2012. The cohort was created using two large health administrative databases that are described in the next section. For objective #2, a cross-sectional study design was used to examine patient and hospital-level factors associated with adolescent admission to an adult psychiatric unit. For objective #3, we used a retrospective cohort design to examine the impact of adolescent admission to an adult psychiatric unit on the outcomes of 30-day readmission, discharge against medical advice, and length of stay, relative to adolescents who are admitted to a pediatric or non-psychiatric unit.

## 3.2 Data Source

The data were obtained from the Canadian Institute for Health Information through the Graduate Student Data Access Program. The Canadian Institute for Health Information is an independent, not-for-profit organization that compiles data and information related to Canada's health system and the health of the population.<sup>76</sup> The dataset was created using the Ontario Mental Health Reporting System (OMHRS) database and the Ontario subset of the Discharge Abstract Database (DAD).

OMHRS captures data from all admissions to designated adult psychiatric beds in Ontario, and includes information on a wide variety of factors such as service use, mental and physical health, social supports, and outcomes at discharge.<sup>27</sup> Reporting to OMHRS was mandated by the Ontario Ministry of Health & Long-term Care for all new admissions to adult psychiatric units after October 1, 2005.<sup>27</sup> This database captures 97-98% of all admissions to designated adult psychiatric beds, with exclusions typically due to missing or invalid health card numbers.<sup>27</sup> Detailed clinical information is collected by mental health professionals using the Resident Assessment Instrument – Mental Health (RAI-MH).<sup>27</sup> Because OMHRS is restricted to adult beds only, the OMHRS dataset was used to identify adolescents admitted to adult psychiatric inpatient units.

The DAD captures data from all remaining hospital discharges not captured by OMHRS, and includes information on a wide variety of factors such as demographic variables, diagnoses, discharge details, provider information, and services received while in hospital.<sup>77</sup> All acute care facilities in Ontario are required to report to CIHI.<sup>77</sup> The DAD dataset was used to identify our comparison group, more specifically adolescents admitted to pediatric psychiatric units or non-psychiatric units.

There is minimal overlap in the datasets unless a patient was admitted first to a nonpsychiatric unit and then transferred to a psychiatric bed during the same episode of care. This overlap was not an issue, as we limited our dataset to only include an adolescent's first admission to a psychiatric unit and we did not consider transfers between units. The two databases were linked to compile a complete dataset of all psychiatric hospitalizations among adolescents in our cohort. Patients were assigned unique patient identification numbers that were consistent across the OMHRS and DAD datasets which allowed us to identify repeat hospitalizations.

## 3.3 Study Population

Adolescents between 12 and 17 years who were hospitalized for a mental disorder in Ontario between 2007 and 2012 were included in the study. We have chosen to focus on adolescents (<18) because children only qualify to be placed on a pediatric inpatient unit until their 18<sup>th</sup> birthday.<sup>78–82</sup> Adolescents were classified as having a mental disorder if

they had a ICD-10-CA code or any DSM-IV code that fell within predetermined diagnostic categories listed in Section 3.5. If an adolescent had a diagnostic code that did not fall within the main diagnostic categories they were excluded from the cohort (See Appendix A for list of excluded diagnostic codes). The data were limited to the adolescent's first admission between April 1, 2007 and March 31, 2012.

## 3.4 Unit of Admission

The cohort was divided into two separate groups for comparison: (i) adolescents admitted to an adult psychiatry unit; and (ii) adolescents admitted to a pediatric psychiatry unit or other non-psychiatry unit (reference group). The exposure of interest was the type of unit that the adolescents were admitted to (adult psychiatric vs. pediatric/non-psychiatric unit).

The unit of admission was assigned based on the database from which the adolescent's hospitalization record was obtained. If the record was from the OMHRS dataset it was coded as an admission to an adult psychiatric unit, as during the period of interest OMHRS data were only collected for adult psychiatric beds in Ontario. If the record came from the DAD dataset, it was coded as an admission to a pediatric psychiatric unit or other non-psychiatric unit. The DAD database does not contain information on the actual unit the patient was admitted to, therefore we inferred that any adolescent who was admitted to an adult unit was represented in the OMHRS dataset, and adolescents who were represented in the DAD dataset were admitted to either a pediatric psychiatry or non-psychiatric unit.

### 3.5 Factors Associated with Unit of Admission

Several patient-level factors and one institutional-level factor were included in the analysis (Table 3.1). The patient-level variables we used included:

- Age Age was derived by subtracting the "admission date" from "patient birthdate" to give the adolescent's age at admission. Calculated ages are rounded down to the nearest whole number. Age 15 was chosen as the reference category because it had the highest frequency.
- Gender Gender was reported as male, female, and other. There was only one observation coded as 'other' and was removed from the analysis.
- Rural vs. Urban Residence This variable was derived using the adolescent's 3-digit postal code. A postal code that contains a 0 as the second digit represents a rural postal area.<sup>83</sup>
- 4. Diagnosis The most responsible diagnosis was used to classify diagnoses. DAD reports diagnoses using the ICD-10 diagnostic criteria, whereas OMHRS uses DSM-IV diagnostic criteria. Although at first glance the ICD-10 and DSM-IV appear to be very similar, multiple studies have determined that the diagnostic criteria have important differences (i.e. required symptoms and differing diagnosis definitions).<sup>84–86</sup> A study conducted by Andrews, Slade & Peters found that the concordance between ICD-10 and DSM-IV diagnoses were an average of 68% with the lowest concordance being 33% (substance harmful use or abuse) and the highest concordance being 87% (dysthymia).<sup>84</sup> To address this issue, we opted to use broad diagnostic categories across both databases. The diagnostic categories are as follows:
  - 1. Substance related disorders
  - 2. Non-Affective Psychotic Disorders
  - 3. Mood/affective disorders
  - 4. Anxiety and adjustment Disorders
  - 5. Selected disorders of adult personality and behaviour (other adult).
  - 6. Pervasive & specific developmental disorders
  - Behavioural & emotional disorders with onset usually occurring in childhood and adolescence
  - 8. Eating disorders.
- 5. Hospital Type (Psychiatric vs. General Hospital) Hospital type was created using the "Peer Group Code" in the OMHRS dataset, where 'Psychiatric' or

'Psychiatric/Teaching' were coded as psychiatric hospital, and 'General<25' or 'General>=25 beds' or 'General/Teaching' were coded as general hospital. Additionally, if the variable "Peer Group Code (Retired)" in the OMHRS dataset was a '2' it was also coded as general hospital. In the DAD dataset, hospital type was assigned using "analytical institution type", where 'Acute Care' was coded as general hospital and where 'Psychiatric Facility' was coded as psychiatric hospital.

Variable Values Admitted to an Adult Inpatient 0=Admission to a Pediatric/Non-psychiatric **Psychiatry Unit** Unit 1=Admission to an adult psychiatry unit Age Age in years ranging from 12 to 17 Gender 0 = Male1= Female 2 = Other**Rural Residence** 0=Urban residence 1=Rural residence Diagnosis 1=Substance-Related Disorders 2= Non-Affective Psychotic Disorders 3=Mood/Affective Disorders 4=Anxiety and Adjustment Disorders 5=Selected Disorders of Adult Personality & Behaviour 6=Pervasive & Specific Developmental Disorders 7=Behavioural & Emotional Disorders with Onset Occurring in Childhood & Adolescence **8=Eating Disorders** Psychiatric vs. General Hospital 0=General Hospital 1=Psychiatric Hospital

 Table 3-1: Summary of Variables for Factors Related to Adult Admission

#### 3.6 Outcomes

Three outcomes were evaluated in this study: 1) 30-day readmission; 2) length of stay; and 3) discharge against medical advice. The binary variable 30-day readmission was generated using the variables "discharge date" and "admission date" from the person's next recorded inpatient admission. Thirty-day readmission has been identified as a quality of care indicator that reflects coordination of care between inpatient and outpatient services, and whether patients are being discharged too early.<sup>87</sup> Research has shown that multiple readmissions can have negative consequences on adolescents, including increased self-harm behaviours, and may lead to disruption in their day-to-day lives.<sup>88,89</sup> We hypothesized that adolescents admitted to adult inpatient psychiatric units will have a greater likelihood of being readmitted within 30-days.

Length of stay was calculated by subtracting "admission date" from "discharge date." Length of stay has also been used as an indicator of interest for inpatient psychiatric admissions, partly due to the direct relation to a main source of health systems costs and trying to predict the costs that are likely to incur.<sup>28,90</sup> Some factors that have been linked to longer length of stay include older age, male sex, longer duration of illness, and a diagnosis of schizophrenia, personality disorder, intellectual disability, or eating disorders.<sup>28,91</sup> We hypothesized that length of stay will be shorter for adolescents admitted to adult inpatient psychiatric units, as clinical staff and family members may aim for the briefest possible stay required to achieve therapeutic aims.

The binary variable "discharged against medical advice" was created using the "Discharge Disposition" and "Mental Health:AWOL" variables in the DAD dataset, and "X90" in the OMHRS dataset, which provides the most accurate reason for the person's discharge. In the DAD dataset, if "Discharge Disposition" was recorded as '6-Signed out (against medical advice)' or if "Mental Health: AWOL" was coded as '1-AWOL', they were coded as a discharged against medical advice. In the OMHRS dataset, if X90 was coded as '5-AWOL' or '7-Discharged against medical advice' then they were coded as "discharged against medical advice". Bardach and colleagues (2014) compared child and adolescent admissions for mental disorders to admissions for other reasons. They found that there was an increased likelihood for children and adolescents with mental disorders

to be discharged against medical advice than those without a diagnosis of a mental disorder. A review of the literature on adults with mental disorders has found that younger, unmarried people, with comorbid disorders and a history of numerous hospitalizations are more likely to be discharged against medical advice.<sup>92</sup> However, to our knowledge, discharge against medical advice has not been explored as an outcome measure in the context of adolescent admissions on adult psychiatric units. Nevertheless, we hypothesize that parents may be more likely to remove their child when admitted to an adult unit due to the many concerns with care (i.e. concern over safety and having their child around many unwell adults).<sup>88,89</sup>

## 3.7 Data Analysis

All data analyses were conducted using SAS® software version 9.4.

#### 3.7.1 Objective 1

The proportion of adolescents with an inpatient psychiatric hospitalization in an adult psychiatric unit was calculated, with precision quantified using 2-sided 95% confidence intervals obtained using the score method.<sup>93</sup> Proportions were calculated for the following scenarios:

- 1. All first inpatient psychiatric admissions
- 2. All inpatient psychiatric admissions
- 3. Inpatient psychiatric admissions by year
- 4. Inpatient psychiatric admissions by age at admission

#### 3.7.2 Objective 2

Proportions for each of the patient or institutional level variables outlined Section 3.5 were computed for both comparison groups. We used unadjusted modified Poisson regression models<sup>94</sup> to estimate the effect of each patient- and institutional-level variable

on the likelihood admission to an adult psychiatric unit. This was followed by a fully adjusted model to estimate the independent effects of each variable on admission. The strength of association between each independent variable and the outcome was quantified using a prevalence ratio and associated 2-sided 95% confidence interval.

#### 3.7.3 Objective 3

Modified Poisson regression<sup>94</sup> was used to model the effect of unit of admission on 30day readmission and discharge against medical advice. This approach combines the robust variance estimator and a log-link function instead of a logit link function in the generalized linear models framework. This approach is preferable to a logistic regression model, which yields an odds ratio that cannot reliably approximate the relative risk when the prevalence of the outcome is greater than 10%.<sup>95</sup> Additionally, the modified Poisson regression method uses a robust variance estimation that does not overestimate the standard error.<sup>94</sup> The relative risk for each variable and associated 95% confidence intervals were estimated. A negative binomial regression was used to model the impact of adult psychiatric unit admission on length of stay. Relative risk and associated 95% confidence intervals were estimated for each variable. We estimated both unadjusted and fully adjusted models for each outcome variable.

## Chapter 4: Results

## 4 Chapter Overview

This chapter details the study findings, beginning with the proportion of admissions that occur on an adult psychiatric unit and a description of the sample. This is followed by the findings on factors associated with adult psychiatric admissions and an analysis of the outcomes related to admission on an adult psychiatric inpatient unit.

## 4.1 Proportion of Admissions on an Adult Psychiatric Unit

Our first objective was to estimate the proportion of adolescent inpatient psychiatric hospitalizations that occur in an adult psychiatric unit in Ontario. There were 28,688 inpatient psychiatric hospitalizations between the years 2007 and 2012 for adolescents between the ages of 12 and 17 years. Of these admissions 8,694 (30.3%) occurred in an adult psychiatric unit (95% CI: 29.8% to 30.8%). Over this same period, there were 16,718 first adolescent inpatient admissions in Ontario. Of these admissions 3,652 (22.8%) occurred in an adult psychiatric unit (95% CI: 21.2% to 22.5%).

When looking at inpatient psychiatric hospitalizations by year, the proportion of admissions that occurred on an adult psychiatric unit declined over the six-year period from 35.0% (95% CI = 33.5% to 36.5%) in 2007 to 26.6% (95% CI = 24.7% to 28.6%) in 2012 (See Figure 4.1). When examining the proportions by age at admission, the proportion of admissions that occurred on an adult psychiatric unit was 8.3% (95% CI = 6.9% to 9.9%) for adolescents who were aged 12, and increased by year up to 50.7% (95% CI = 49.7% to 51.8%) for adolescents who were aged 17 (See Figure 4.2).


Figure 4-1: Proportion of Inpatient Psychiatric Admission on an Adult Psychiatric Unit by Year of Inpatient Discharge

Figure 4-2: Proportion of Inpatient Psychiatric Admissions on an Adult Psychiatric Unit by Adolescent Age at Admission



# 4.2 Study Sample

A flow-chart showing the derivation of the sample is presented in Figure 4.3, and the demographic characteristics of the study sample are presented in Table 4.1.

#### **Figure 4-3: Sample Selection Flow Chart**



	All Adı (n=10	nissions 5,197)	Admissions on a Pediatric/Non- psychiatric Unit (n=12,996)		Admissions on an Adult Unit (n=3,201)	
Categories	Frequency	Percent (%)	Frequency	Percent (%)	Frequency	Percent (%)
Age	•	÷	-	<u>.</u>	-	<u>.</u>
12	990	6.1	944	7.3	46	1.4
13	1,547	9.6	1,483	11.4	64	2.0
14	2,504	15.5	2,334	18.0	170	5.3
15	3,547	21.9	3,174	24.4	373	11.7
16	3,836	23.7	2,763	21.3	1,073	33.5
17	3,773	23.3	2,298	17.7	1,475	46.0
Gender	-	-	-	-	-	-
Male	6,589	40.7	5,073	39.0	1,516	47.4
Female	9,608	59.3	7,923	61.0	1,685	52.6
Type of Residence						
Urban	13,556	83.7	11,091	85.3	2,465	77.0
Rural	2,641	16.3	1,905	14.7	736	23.0
Diagnosis	-		-		-	
Substance-Related	1,312	8.1	791	6.1	521	16.2
Disorders	-					
Non-Affective	898	5.5	547	4.2	351	11.0
Psychotic Disorders						
Mood/Affective Disorders	6,066	37.5	4,646	35.8	1,420	44.4
Anxiety & Adjustment	4,336	26.8	3,689	28.4	647	20.2
Disorders						
Selected Disorders of	573	3.5	465	3.6	108	3.4
Adult Personality &						
Behaviour						
Pervasive & Specific	331	2.0	312	2.4	19	0.6
Developmental Disorders						
Behavioural & Emotional	2,100	13.0	1,998	15.4	102	3.2
Disorders with Onset						
Usually Occurring in						
Childhood & Adolescence	501	2.6	<b>E</b> 40	4.2	22	1.0
Eating Disorders	581	3.6	548	4.2	55	1.0
Hospital Type		0.0.0	10.000	0.0.0		0.1.7
General Hospital	15,111	93.3	12,082	93.0	3,029	94.6
Psychiatric Hospital	1 086	67	914	1 70	172	54

# Table 4-1: Sample Proportions for First Admissions

# 4.3 Factors Associated with Admission to an Adult Psychiatric Unit

The second objective of our study was to examine the patient-level and institutional-level factors that are associated with adolescent admission to an adult inpatient psychiatric unit. The proportions for each factor by comparison group and the results of the regression models are shown in Table 4.2.

Compared with 15-year-olds, 16-year-olds were more than twice as likely (PR = 2.41, 95% CI = 2.17 to 2.69), and 17-year-olds were more than three times more likely (PR = 3.21, 95% CI = 2.89 to 3.56) to be admitted to an adult psychiatric unit, after adjusting for these factors. Adolescents between the ages of 12 and 14 years were at a lower risk of being admitted to an adult psychiatric unit (Age 12: PR = 0.58, 95% CI = 0.43 to 0.77; Age 13: PR = 0.46, 95% CI = 0.35 to 0.59, Age 14: PR = 0.70, 95% CI = 0.59 to 0.83). Males were 13% more likely than females to be admitted to an adult psychiatric unit (PR = 1.13, 95% CI = 1.06 to 1.20). Adolescents who lived in a rural area were 45% more likely than those who lived in an urban area to be admitted to an adult psychiatric unit (PR = 1.45, 95% CI = 1.36 to 1.54). When compared with adolescents with mood/affective disorders, those with a substance-related disorder were 42% more likely to be admitted to an adult psychiatric unit (PR = 1.42, 95% CI = 1.31 to 1.54), and those with non-affective psychotic disorders were 36% more likely to be admitted to an adult psychiatric unit (PR = 1.36, 95% CI = 1.24 to 1.49). The remaining diagnostic categories were associated with a lower prevalence of admission to an adult psychiatric unit, relative to adolescents with anxiety and adjustment disorders, with PRs ranging from 0.82 (95% CI = 0.69 to 0.97) for selected disorders of adult personality and behavior, to 0.32 for eating disorders (95% CI = 0.27 to 0.39). Admission to a psychiatric hospital was a protective factor for admission to an adult psychiatric unit in unadjusted analyses (PR = 0.79, 95% CI = 0.69 to 0.91), but was no longer statistically significant in the fully adjusted model that accounted for patient characteristics.

	Pediatric/ Non- Psych Unit Frequency (Proportion)	Adult Unit Frequency (Proportion)	Unadjusted Prevalence Ratio (95% CI)	Adjusted Prevalence Ratio (95% CI)
<b>Individual Level-Factors</b>				
Age 12	944 (7.3)	46 (1.4)	0.44 (0.33 to 0.60)*	0.58 (0.43 to 0.77)*
Age 13	1483 (11.4)	64 (2.0)	0.39 (0.30 to 0.51)*	0.46 (0.35 to 0.59)*
Age 14	2334 (17.9)	170 (5.3)	0.65 (0.54 to 0.77)*	0.70 (0.59 to 0.83)*
Age 15	3174 (24.4)	373 (11.7)	Reference	Reference
Age 16	2763 (21.3)	1073 (33.5)	2.66 (2.39 to 2.97)*	2.41 (2.17 to 2.69)*
Age 17	2298 (17.7)	1475 (46.1)	3.72 (3.35 to 4.12)*	3.21 (2.89 to 3.56)*
Female Gender	7923 (61.0)	1685 (52.6)	Reference	Reference
Male Gender	5073 (39.0)	1516 (47.4)	1.31 (1.23 to 1.40)*	1.13 (1.06 to 1.20)*
Urban Residence	11091 (85.3)	2465 (77.0)	Reference	Reference
Rural Residence	1905 (14.7)	736 (23.0)	1.53 (1.43 to 1.65)*	1.45 (1.36 to 1.54)*
Mood/Affective Disorder	4,646 (35.7)	1,420 (44.3)	Reference	Reference
Diagnosis				
Substance-Related	791 (6.1)	521 (16.3)	1.70 (1.56 to 1.84)*	1.42 (1.31 to 1.54)*
Disorders Diagnosis				
Non-Affective Psychotic	3,689 (28.4)	647 (20.2)	1.67 (1.52 to 1.83)*	1.36 (1.24 to 1.49)*
Disorders		271 (11.0)		
Anxiety & Adjustment	547 (4.2)	351 (11.0)	$0.64 (0.59 \text{ to } 0.69)^*$	$0.72 (0.66 \text{ to } 0.78)^*$
Disorder Diagnosis		100 (2.4)		
Selected Disorders of	465 (3.6)	108 (3.4)	$0.81 (0.68 \text{ to } 0.96)^*$	$0.82 (0.69 \text{ to } 0.97)^*$
Adult Personality &				
Benavior Diagnosis	212 (2.4)	10 (0 6)	0.25(0.16+0.29)*	0.22 (0.22 += 0.51)*
Pervasive & Specific	512 (2.4)	19 (0.0)	$0.25 (0.16 \text{ to } 0.38)^*$	$0.33 (0.22 \text{ to } 0.51)^*$
Divergence Disorders				
Diagnosis Rehavioural & Emotional	1 998 (15 4)	102 (3 2)	0.21 (0.17 to 0.25)*	$0.22 (0.27 \pm 0.20)$ *
Disorders with Onset	1,770 (13.4)	102 (3.2)	$0.21 (0.17 to 0.23)^{\circ}$	0.32(0.2710(0.39))
Usually Occurring in				
Childhood &				
Adolescence Diagnosis				
	549 (4 2)	22 (1.0)	0.04 (0.17 ( 0.24)*	0.22 (0.22 ( 0.45)*
Eating Disorder	548 (4.2)	33 (1.0)	$0.24 (0.1 / \text{ to } 0.34)^*$	$0.32 (0.23 \text{ to } 0.45)^*$
Diagnosis Institutional Lavel Factor				
General Hogrital	12082 (02.0)	3020 (04.6)	Deference	Deference
Deneral Hospital	12002(93.0)	3029(94.0)	$\frac{1}{0.70} (0.60 \pm 0.01) $	1.02 (0.01  to  1.15)
густани позрна	914 (7.0)	172 (3.4)	$0.79(0.09100.91)^*$	1.02 (0.91 to 1.15)

 Table 4-2: Factors Associated with First Admission on an Adult Psychiatric Unit

\* Indicates statistically significant finding at p < 0.05

#### 4.4 Adult Admission & Hospitalization Outcomes

The third objective of this study was to compare 30-day readmissions, discharge against medical advice, and length of stay for adolescents who are admitted to an adult psychiatric unit, relative to youth who are admitted to a pediatric or non-psychiatric unit. Unadjusted and adjusted risk ratios for the analysis are shown in Table 4.3 - 4.5. The proportion of adolescents who were readmitted within 30-days was 6.9%. There was no significant association between admission to an adult psychiatric unit and risk of 30-day readmission. The average length of stay for adolescents was 10.5 days (standard deviation = 24.8) and the median length of stay was 6 days (IQR = 3 to 12). Adolescents who were admitted to an adult psychiatric unit (RR = 0.88, 95% CI = 0.82 to 0.95). The proportion of adolescents who were discharged against medical advice was 2.5%. When compared to adolescents admitted to a pediatric or non-psychiatric unit, those who were admitted to an adult psychiatric unit were 59% more likely to be discharged against medical advice (RR = 1.59, 95% CI = 1.28 to 1.97).

	Unadjusted Relative Risk	Adjusted Relative Risk
	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
Admitted to a Pediatric/Non-psychiatric Unit	Reference	Reference
Admitted to an Adult Unit	0.95 (0.82 to 1.09)	0.93 (0.80 to 1.09)
Individual Level-Factors	1	
Age 12	1.02 (0.80 to 1.30)	1.12 (0.87 to 1.43)
Age 13	1.00 (0.81 to 1.23)	1.04 (0.85 to 1.29)
Age 14	0.94 (0.78 to 1.13)	0.97 (0.81 to 1.16)
Age 15	Reference	Reference
Age 16	0.92 (0.78 to 1.09)	0.90 (0.76 to 1.06)
Age 17	0.81 (0.69 to 0.96)*	0.78 (0.66 to 0.94)*
Female Gender	Reference	Reference
Male Gender	0.88 (0.78 to 0.99)*	0.85 (0.76 to 0.97)*
Urban Residence	Reference	Reference
Rural Residence	0.98 (0.84 to 1.15)	0.98 (0.84 to 1.14)
Mood/Affective Disorders Diagnosis	Reference	Reference
Substance-Related Disorders Diagnosis	0.80 (0.64 to 1.00)	0.86 (0.69 to 1.08)
Non-Affective Psychotic Disorders	1.36 (1.11 to 1.67)*	1.50 (1.22 to 1.85)*
Anxiety & Adjustment Disorders Diagnosis	0.60 (0.52 to 0.71)*	0.59 (0.51 to 0.69)*
Selected Disorders of Adult Personality & Behavior Diagnosis	1.01 (0.76 to 1.35)	0.99 (0.74 to 1.32)
Pervasive & Specific Developmental Disorders Diagnosis	1.05 (0.73 to 1.51)	1.07 (0.74 to 1.55)
Behavioural & Emotional Disorders With	0.73 (0.61 to 0.89)*	0.72 (0.59 to 0.88)*
Onset Usually Occurring in Childhood &		
Adolescence Diagnosis		
Eating Disorder Diagnosis	0.68 (0.48 to 0.96)*	0.62 (0.43 to 0.88)*
Institutional Level Factors		
General Hospital	Reference	Reference
Psychiatric Hospital	0.77 (0.60 to 1.00)	0.78 (0.61 to 1.01)

 Table 4-3: 30-Day Readmission after First Inpatient Psychiatric Admission

\*p-value<0.05

	Unadjusted	Adjusted Relative
	Relative Risk	Risk
	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
Admitted to a Pediatric/Non-psychiatric Unit	Reference	Reference
Admitted to an Adult Unit	0.96 (0.81 to 1.13)	0.88 (0.82 to 0.95)*
Individual Level-Factors		
Age 12	1.12 (1.02 to 1.22)*	1.08 (1.01 to 1.16)*
Age 13	1.12 (1.04 to 1.21)*	1.07 (1.01 to 1.13)*
Age 14	1.06 (0.99 to 1.14)	1.04 (0.99 to 1.10)
Age 15	Reference	Reference
Age 16	1.09 (0.98 to 1.21)	1.07 (1.01 to 1.14)*
Age 17	1.07 (0.96 to 1.20)	1.04 (0.98 to 1.10)
Female Gender	Reference	Reference
Male Gender	0.97 (0.89 to 1.06)	1.07 (1.02 to 1.12)*
Urban Residence	Reference	Reference
Rural Residence	0.98 (0.85 to 1.13)	0.98 (0.90 to 1.06)
Mood/Affective Disorders Diagnosis	Reference	Reference
Substance-Related Disorders Diagnosis	0.70 (0.65 to 0.76)*	0.70 (0.65 to 0.75)*
Non-Affective Psychotic Disorders	2.29 (1.84 to 2.84)*	2.14 (1.75 to 2.61)*
Anxiety & Adjustment Disorders Diagnosis	0.80 (0.76 to 0.84)*	0.78 (0.74 to 0.81)*
Selected Disorders of Adult Personality &	2.37 (1.76 to 3.18)*	2.27 (1.82 to 2.82)*
Behavior Diagnosis		
Pervasive & Specific Developmental	1.56 (1.30 to 1.88)*	1.39 (1.16 to 1.66)*
Disorders Diagnosis		
Behavioural & Emotional Disorders With	0.97 (0.92 to 1.02)	0.88 (0.83 to 0.93)*
Onset Usually Occurring in Childhood &		
Adolescence Diagnosis		
Eating Disorder Diagnosis	4.36 (4.08 to 4.65)*	4.33 (4.04 to 4.64)*
Institutional Level Factors		
General Hospital	Reference	Reference
Psychiatric Hospital	1.78 (1.42 to 2.25)*	1.71 (1.46 to 1.99)*

Table 4-4: Length of Stay during First Inpatient Admission

\*p-value<0.05

	Unadjusted	Adjusted Relative
	Relative Risk	Risk
	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
Admitted to a Pediatric/Non-psychiatric Unit	Reference	Reference
Admitted to an Adult Unit	2.25 (1.84 to 2.74)*	1.59 (1.28 to 1.97)*
Individual Level-Factors		
Age 12	0.48 (0.23 to 1.00)	0.47 (0.22 to 1.00)
Age 13	0.42 (0.22 to 0.80)*	0.43 (0.23 to 0.82)*
Age 14	0.80 (0.53 to 1.22)	0.81 (0.53 to 1.24)
Age 15	Reference	Reference
Age 16	2.10 (1.55 to 2.83)*	1.91 (1.41 to 2.58)*
Age 17	2.52 (1.88 to 3.38)*	2.17 (1.60 to 2.93)*
Female Gender	Reference	Reference
Male Gender	1.26 (1.04 to 1.53)*	1.17 (0.95 to 1.43)
Urban Residence	Reference	Reference
Rural Residence	1.04 (0.80 to 1.34)	0.94 (0.73 to 1.22)
Mood/Affective Disorders Diagnosis	2.06 (1.53 to 2.77)*	1.66 (1.23 to 2.26)*
Substance-Related Disorders Diagnosis	0.90 (0.55 to 1.47)	0.71 (0.43 to 1.16)
Non-Affective Psychotic Disorders	Reference	Reference
Anxiety & Adjustment Disorders Diagnosis	1.14 (0.89 to 1.46)	1.31 (1.02 to 1.69)*
Selected Disorders of Adult Personality &	2.51 (1.72 to 3.65)*	2.64 (1.82 to 3.83)*
Behavior Diagnosis		
Pervasive & Specific Developmental	0.54 (0.20 to 1.46)	0.79 (0.30 to 2.15)
Disorders Diagnosis		
Behavioural & Emotional Disorders With	0.88 (0.62 to 1.24)	1.42 (0.98 to 2.05)
Onset Usually Occurring in Childhood &		
Adolescence Diagnosis		
Eating Disorder Diagnosis	0.77 (0.41 to 1.46)	1.12 (0.59 to 2.14)
Institutional Level Factors		
General Hospital	Reference	Reference
Psychiatric Hospital	0.64 (0.40 to 1.02)	0.71 (0.44 to 1.14)

Table 4-5: Discharged Against Medical Advice during First Hospitalization

\* p-value<0.05

#### Chapter 5: Discussion

# 5 Chapter Overview

This chapter provides a discussion of the key study findings and conclusions. Section 5.1 summarizes the results, and section 5.2 provides a summary of policy considerations. Additional sections provide a description of study strengths (Section 5.3), weaknesses (Section 5.4), and considerations for future research (Section 5.5).

# 5.1 Key Study Findings

The dataset used in this study contains a cohort of 16,718 adolescents between the ages of 12 and 17 years with a first inpatient psychiatric admission in Ontario between April 1, 2007 and March 31, 2012. Of these admissions, 22.8% were to an adult psychiatric unit. This proportion is somewhat lower than what has been previously reported in the literature – estimates from Ireland and England suggest that up to 45% of adolescent admissions may be to an adult psychiatric unit.<sup>66,74</sup>

When examining first-time admissions to a psychiatric unit in the dataset, 22.8% of adolescents' first admission occurred in an adult psychiatric unit. This is particularly concerning given that barriers to help-seeking and disengagement from services is often shaped by adolescents' previous experiences within the mental health system.<sup>96</sup> Adolescents, parents, and staff all report concerns with admitting youth to adult psychiatric units, including fear for safety, increased stress, isolation, lack of involvement in care, and lack of age appropriate resources.<sup>7,25,26,66,69</sup> With already low service engagement from adolescents and young adults, having a negative experience during the first admission could lead to further avoidance of mental health services in the future. <sup>12,26,27</sup>

When examining the data by age group, the proportion of 16 and 17 year olds who were admitted to an adult unit was much higher than those under the age of 16 (38.5% and 50.7%, respectively). However, the proportion of adolescents under the age of 16 who

were admitted to an adult psychiatric unit is particularly noteworthy, ranging from 8.3% for 12 year-olds, to 16.9% for 15 year-olds. It could be argued that adolescents age 16 and 17 who are approaching the age cutoff (18 years) and may be more appropriately admitted to an adult unit; however, it is concerning to see that adolescents as young as 12 and 13 years are admitted to an adult unit. The Ontario Network of Child & Adolescent Inpatient Psychiatry's standard for child and adolescent inpatient mental health recommends that adolescents should not receive care from adult psychiatric units, and that their care should be developmentally appropriate, including an opportunity to continue their education and engage in age appropriate activities.<sup>22</sup>

Our study also found that older adolescents, males, people living in a rural area, and those with substance-related disorder or psychotic disorders were more likely to be admitted to an adult psychiatric unit. We had anticipated that older adolescents would be more likely to have an admission to an adult unit, as they are reaching the cutoff age and may seek autonomy or already be assuming adult roles (i.e. not in school).<sup>21,22</sup> If an adolescent lives in a rural environment, there may not be access to a pediatric psychiatric unit as hospitals tend to be smaller, and therefore admission to an adult unit may be the only option.<sup>23,71</sup> Although it may be possible for youth to be sent to a larger institution with a pediatric psychiatric unit, there is debate whether the benefit of a pediatric unit outweighs the risks of separating adolescents from their home and local support systems.<sup>71</sup> The onset of schizophrenia and other psychotic disorders tends to occur in the latter period of adolescence, which could explain why adolescents with this diagnosis tend to be admitted to adult psychiatric units.<sup>54,55</sup>

To our knowledge, this is the first study to compare clinical outcomes between adolescents admitted to adult psychiatric units and those admitted to pediatric psychiatric or non-psychiatric units. This study found no significant association between admission to an adult psychiatric unit and the risk of 30-day readmission. We had hypothesized that there would be an increased likelihood for those admitted to an adult psychiatric unit to be readmitted within 30-days, as this outcome measure has been identified as quality of care indicator that reflects coordination of care and appropriate discharge timing.<sup>87</sup> This finding could suggest that adolescents who were admitted to adult psychiatric units

received the level of care they needed, or it could suggest that adolescents avoided the hospital after a negative experience. This study found that older adolescents (age 17) had a decreased likelihood of 30-day readmission. This is inconsistent with the literature that reports older youth are at a higher risk for readmission.<sup>28,87,97</sup> We also found that males had a decreased likelihood of admission however, the literature on gender differences in readmission rates has been inconsistent.<sup>87,97</sup>

We also found that adolescents admitted to an adult psychiatric unit were more likely to be discharged against medical advice than those admitted to a pediatric/non-psychiatric unit, which was consistent with our hypothesis. We anticipated this finding, given that prior qualitative research clearly depicts the fear that adolescents and their families feel when a young person is admitted to an adult unit. This fear could lead the patient or their families to question whether the admission is doing more harm than good, which may lead a parent to remove their child from the unit, or adolescents to remove themselves. Older adolescents (age 16 and 17) were more likely to be discharged against medical advice, which may be due to adolescents' belief that they should be able to handle their problems and symptoms themselves, and stigma related with seeking psychiatric treatment.<sup>13,14</sup> We found adolescents with a diagnosis of mood/affective disorders, anxiety and adjustment disorders, and selected disorders of adult personality were more likely to be discharged against medical advice than those with a non-affective psychotic disorder. A literature review found that diagnoses of a personality disorder also resulted in a higher likelihood of discharge against medical advice for adults with mental disorders.<sup>92</sup> Lastly, we found that adolescents admitted to an adult psychiatric unit had a shorter length of stay than those admitted to a pediatric or non-psychiatric unit. This finding was consistent with our hypothesis and may be related to the increased likelihood of adolescents being discharged against medical advice. We found that younger adolescents (age 12 to 13) had a longer length of stay, which was not consistent with findings from Stewart and colleagues that length of stay increased with each year of increased age.<sup>28</sup> Our findings for diagnostic categories were consistent with previous research.28,62

Although it could be argued that the health system is saving money if adolescents admitted to adult units have a shorter length of stay, with no impact on 30-day readmission rates, there are still many negative factors associated with this practice. For example, we found that this practice increased the likelihood of discharge against medical advice, which has been shown to double the risk of death within 30-days and leads to an overuse of emergency rooms.<sup>92,98</sup> Additionally, the literature clearly depicts a clear picture of fear an adolescent may feel when they are admitted to an adult inpatient unit and these negative experiences may lead to delay in receiving the care they need in a timely manner.<sup>29,70</sup> Another factor to consider is developmentally appropriate care, when youth are admitted to an adult unit they are unlikely to receive developmentally appropriate care such as educational services to assist in school re-entry or involving families in treatment.<sup>7,22,26,73</sup>

#### 5.2 Policy Considerations

Given the substantial proportion of youth admitted to adult psychiatric units, the association of adult admission with negative outcomes, and the negative experiences reported by adolescents, their parents, and mental health practitioners, what could be done from a policy perspective to address this issue? There are three options that could be explored in Ontario: 1) increasing community mental health supports; 2) implementing adolescent psychiatric units; or 3) adopting policies to prohibit adolescent admission to adult psychiatric units, similar to that of other jurisdictions.

Inpatient psychiatric services are meant to be used for diagnostic clarification or in times of crisis, suicidality, and other severe symptom impairment.<sup>22,61</sup> Over a ten year period (between 2007 and 2016), both emergency department usage and inpatient care increased for children and adolescents with mental disorders.<sup>18,19</sup> One reason that adolescents may be placed in adult psychiatric units is the lack of capacity among pediatric psychiatric units and in the inpatient mental health system generally.<sup>23,71</sup> Children's Mental Health Ontario has suggested the way to address the demand placed on the inpatient setting is to invest in community-based mental health services.<sup>99</sup> There are currently wait-times

between 35 and 98 days, depending on the type of service in the community mental health sector.<sup>100</sup> Adding resources to community mental health services would be an upstream solution – providing additional supports in the community would allow for more adolescents to be treated in a timely and clinically appropriate setting, thereby reducing unnecessary demand on hospital care for mental disorders.<sup>99</sup>

Another suggestion to improve inpatient psychiatric care for adolescents is to implement adolescent psychiatric units. Viner (2007) conducted a survey with 16,707 adolescents age 12 to 17 years who had received inpatient psychiatric care between 2003 and 2004 in England to explore their perceptions of quality of care. Adolescents who were admitted to an adolescent psychiatric unit reported significantly better of quality of care, including "confidentiality, communication, information-giving, partnership, and respect", compared with adolescents who were admitted to a child or adult psychiatric unit.<sup>101</sup> Youth continually report the preference for an adolescent specific unit that fits their educational needs and provides age-appropriate service that respects their autonomy and privacy, and allows them to be around peers of a similar age.<sup>26,101–103</sup> However, there is a lack of data related to the impact an admission to an adolescent-specific unit has compared to admission to a child or adult unit, and this is unlikely to be a feasible option for many smaller community-based hospitals.

Lastly, Canada could adopt policies that address the admission of children and adolescents to adult inpatient units. Both the United Kingdom and Scotland have taken steps to prohibit the admission of those under the age of 18 to adult inpatient units.<sup>20,21</sup> Although there is legislation in place to prevent admissions to an adult inpatient unit, there is still the overriding need and atypical need criteria where such an admission can happen.<sup>21</sup> Therefore, it is yet to be proven if the legislation is effective in preventing appropriate admissions.

# 5.3 Future Research

Although policy options have been explored in other jurisdictions, there is still much to be done in terms of further research. In order to do this, improvement in data collection is needed across the mental health system. Some important aspects to consider include the use of cross-sectoral data, using key patient identifiers to link data across community and hospital mental health care, as well as using one common system for admission and discharge reporting – for example, the Resident Assessment Instrument-Mental Health used in the OMHRS database should be used for both pediatric and adult admissions. Improved measurement of mental health care has been identified as a priority area for both the Canadian Institute for Health Information and the Mental Health Commission of Canada.<sup>35,36</sup>

Additionally, further research is needed to determine the extent to which admissions to an adult psychiatric unit impact on adolescent clinical outcomes. Pediatric psychiatric units are starting to report to the OMHRS database (previously limited to adult admissions), which will allow for more extensive examination of this issue. Very few studies have focused on adolescent admission to adult psychiatric units, and to date none have used both qualitative and quantitative data to provide a comprehensive picture of the issue. It may be advantageous to conduct a mixed methods study that would link clinical outcomes with patient reported outcomes and clinical evaluation of the appropriateness of admission. Gathering data from all sources would help provide a complete picture of the impact of this practice on outcomes.

#### 5.4 Strengths

Determining the frequency of adolescent admission to adult psychiatric units in Ontario and the associated factors helps to fill a critical gap in the literature on inpatient mental health services for adolescents, and is an important first step in addressing this issue. There is currently a paucity of literature on adolescent admission to adult inpatient psychiatric units, particularly quantitative data. To our knowledge, this will be the only Canadian study to examine the factors associated with and outcomes of admission to an adult psychiatric unit, compared to pediatric or non-psychiatric units. Additionally, it is the first study to compare outcomes between adolescents admitted to an adult inpatient psychiatric unit and those admitted to a pediatric psychiatric unit or non-psychiatric unit. This study used a large administrative database, which provided a large sample size that captured all adolescent admissions over a five-year period. Additionally, there were minimal missing data for the variables of interest.

Transition-aged youth are highlighted as a strategic target group provincially<sup>6</sup> and nationally,<sup>75</sup> and the results from this study can be used to inform decision making on resource allocation and providing appropriate access to mental health care for adolescents in Ontario.

## 5.5 Limitations

There are a number of limitations that should be considered. Based on the available data, we were unable to determine the exact unit that adolescents in our comparison group were admitted to – specifically, whether the adolescent was admitted to a pediatric psychiatric unit or received services in a pediatric or adult non-psychiatric bed. This limits our interpretation of the estimates and our ability to identify the most suitable setting for adolescent psychiatric admission. There is also the possibility that we may have misclassified some admissions as we could only identify the first admission during our study period (April 1, 2007 to March 31, 2012) not necessarily the adolescent's first psychiatric admission ever. Additionally, we cannot account for adolescents experiencing multiple admissions prior to the study period or before the age of 12. Youth could experience multiple escalating admissions that could result in admission to an adult psychiatric unit.

The two datasets we accessed (DAD and OMHRS) use different diagnostic classification systems (ICD-10 and DSM-IV, respectively). Multiple studies have determined that these diagnostic coding systems have important differences, including required symptoms, exclusion criteria, and diagnostic definitions, which make it difficult to draw direct comparisons.<sup>84–86</sup> A study conducted by Andrews, Slade, & Peters found that the concordance between ICD-10 and DSM-IV diagnoses was 68%, with the lowest concordance being 33% for substance harmful use or abuse, and the highest concordance being 87% for dysthymia.<sup>84</sup> As a result, we had to use broad categories to describe adolescent diagnoses. Additionally, due to the nature of health administrative data, we are

unable to examine the severity of symptoms which could be an important factor in determining whether an adolescent is admitted to a child or adult psychiatric inpatient unit.

Additionally, some variables are not available across the two datasets, which limited comparability of all potential confounders that may impact the outcomes. We only included variables that are available in both datasets which means that we are missing factors that may influence our findings, such as self-injury. We were also missing important information at the facility level, such as facility type and location. Due to privacy concerns, we were not able to obtain full postal codes for adolescents or hospitals, which would give us a proxy measure for neighbourhood-level SES and the distance from a hospital, which are both potential explanatory factors. For instance, a person who lives close to a hospital with a pediatric psychiatric unit might be more likely to have an admission at that hospital due to the distance from their home than someone who lives 200km from the closest pediatric unit.

It is also important to acknowledge that we only have inpatient admission data available, which is only one small part of the mental health system. Adolescents who are well supported in the community and those who successfully transition to the community after discharge may have better outcomes.

Due to the nature of the study, we are unable to determine if an adolescent's admission was 'appropriate.' The literature has cited reasons why an adult admission may be appropriate, including living an adult lifestyle, potential for aggressive behaviour, proximity to support network, and if the stay is very brief.<sup>21–23,71</sup> We were unable to account for these factors in our data.

Additionally, it is important to note that we found a declining trend in admission of adolescents to adult psychiatric units over the study period therefore; it may have declined even further in the following years.

# 5.6 Conclusions

Although the topic of adolescent admission to adult inpatient psychiatric units is understudied, it is evident that it can have a profound impact on an adolescent's life and subsequent engagement with psychiatric treatment. This study aimed to determine the prevalence, determinants, and outcomes related to the hospitalization of youth aged 12 to 17 years on adult inpatient psychiatric units in Ontario. This study found that approximately one in three adolescents is admitted to an adult inpatient unit. Our analyses suggest that older adolescents, males, those living in rural areas, and those with substance-related disorder or non-affective psychotic disorders were more likely to be admitted to an adult psychiatric unit. Additionally, admission to an adult psychiatric unit had an impact on an adolescent's length of stay and the likelihood they were discharged against medical advice. Several policy considerations and improvements to data collection were explored in the discussion that could improve access to appropriate care for adolescents in Ontario.

# References

- Di Rezze B, Nguyen T, Mulvale G, Barr NG, Longo CJ, Randall GE. A scoping review of evaluated interventions addressing developmental transitions for youth with mental health disorders. *Child Care Health Dev.* 2015;42(2):176-187. doi:10.1111/cch.12306.
- World Health Organization. Health for the world's adolescents: A second chance in the second decade. http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/112750/WHO\_FWC\_MCA\_14.05 \_eng.pdf;jsessionid=57738CC6AD96D4DF8F2F778EC626F355?sequence=1. Published 2014.
- Statistics Canada. Leading causes of death, total population, by age group. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=1310039401. Published 2018.
- Kessler RC, Berglund P, Demler O, Jin R, Merikangas KR, Walters EE. Lifetime Prevalence and Age-of-Onset Distributions of DSM-IV Disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. 2005;62:593-602.
- Davidson S, Cappelli M. We've Got Growing up to Do: Transitioning Youth from Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services to Adult Mental Health Services.;
   2011. www.excellenceforchildandyouth.ca/file/9555/download?token=EDGVXdj0.
- Ontario G of. Open Minds, Healthy Minds: Ontario's Comprehensive Mental Health and Addictions Strategy.; 2011. http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/common/ministry/publications/reports/mental\_hea lth2011/m entalhealth\_rep2011.pdf.
- Randall G, Mulvale G, Wakefield P, et al. Mapping the policy to practice landscape for youth mental health in Ontario: A report from the "youth to adult

transitions in health care – the case of mental health services in Ontario" research team. http://youthtransitions.degroote.mcmaster.ca/wpcontent/themes/y2a/files/Transitions\_Report.pdf.

- Ministry of Child and Youth Services. Responsibility Ontario 's Policy Framework for Child and Youth Mental Health. http://www.children.gov.on.ca/htdocs/English/documents/specialneeds/mentalhealt h/framework.pdf. Published 2006.
- United Nations Educational and Scientific and Cultural Organization. What do we mean by "youth"? http://www.unesco.org/new/en/social-and-humansciences/themes/youth/youth-definition/. Published 2017.
- Wilens TE. Transitional Aged Youth : A New Frontier in. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2013;52(9):887-890. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2013.04.020.
- Waddell C, Offord DR, Shepherd CA, Hon BA, Hua JM, Mcewan K. Policy-Making : The State of the Science and the Art of the Possible. *Can J Psychiatry*. 2002;47(9).
- Pottick KJ, Bilder S, Vander Stoep A, Warner LA, Alvarez MF. US patterns of mental health service utilization for transition-age youth and young adults. *J Behav Heal Serv Res.* 2008. doi:10.1007/s11414-007-9080-4.
- Gulliver A, Griffiths KM, Christensen H. Perceived barriers and facilitators to mental health help-seeking in young people : a systematic review. 2010.
- 14. Rickwood DJ, Deane FP, Wilson CJ. When and how do young people seek professional help for mental health problems? *Med J Aust*. 2007;187(7):35-39.
- Singh SP, Paul M, Ford T, et al. Process, outcome and experience of transition from child to adult mental healthcare: Multiperspective study. *Br J Psychiatry*. 2010;197(4):305-312. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.109.075135.
- 16. O'Brien A, Fahmy R, Singh SP. Disengagement from mental health services: A

literature review. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol*. 2009;44(7):558-568. doi:10.1007/s00127-008-0476-0.

- Singh SP. Transition of care from child to adult mental health services: the great divide. *Curr Opin Psychiatry*. 2009;22:286-290. doi:10.1097/YCO.0b013e32832c9221.
- Canadian Institute for Health Information. Care for children and youth with mental disorders. https://secure.cihi.ca/free\_products/CIHI CYMH Final for pubs\_EN\_web.pdf. Published 2015.
- 19. Gandhi S, Chiu M, Lam K, Cairney JC, Guttmann A, Kurdyak P. Mental Health Service Use Among Children and Youth in Ontario: Population-Based Trends Over Time Utilisation des services de santé mentale par les enfants et les adolescents de l'Ontario : tendances dans la population au fil du temps. doi:10.1177/0706743715621254.
- 20. Scotland Mental Welfare Commission for. Good practice guide: Young people in adult mental health wards. 2013. https://www.mwcscot.org.uk/media/126377/mental\_welfare\_commission\_guidanc e\_on\_the\_admission\_of\_young\_people\_to\_adult\_mental\_health\_wards\_review2\_.pdf.
- O'Herlihy A, Lelliott P. Safe and Appropriate Care for Young People on Adult Mental Health Wards Pilot programme report. https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/pdf/Safe and Appropriate Care - Pilot Report.pdf. Published 2009.
- Ontario Network of Child and Adolescent Inpatient Psychiatry Services. Child & Adolescent Inpatient Mental Health Standards.; 2015. http://oncaips.ca/ONCAIPS\_Standards\_June\_2015.pdf.
- Worrall A, O 'herlihy A, Banerjee S, et al. Inappropriate admission of young people with mental disorder to adult psychiatric wards and paediatric wards: cross sectional study of six months' activity. *Br Med J*. 2004;328(7444):867-868.

doi:10.1136/bmj.38058.605787.AE.

- 24. McDougall T, Scott SB. Too much too young? Under 18s on adult mental health wards. *Ment Heal Pract*. 2008;11(6):12-15.
- 25. Curran G, Walter G, Soh N, et al. CHILD AND ADOLESCENT PSYCHIATRY Staff experience, knowledge and attitudes regarding the management of adolescent patients in adult mental health units. 2011. doi:10.3109/10398562.2011.602079.
- 26. Children's Commissioner for England. Pushed into the shadows: Young people's experience of adult mental health facilities. http://dera.ioe.ac.uk/18763/1/Pushed\_into\_the\_shadows.pdf. Published 2007.
- 27. Canadian Institute for Health Information. Ontario mental health reporting system metadata. https://www.cihi.ca/en/ontario-mental-health-reporting-system-metadata. Published 2017.
- Stewart SL, Kam C, Baiden P. Predicting length of stay and readmission for psychiatric inpatient youth admitted to adult mental health beds in Ontario, Canada. *Child Adolesc Ment Health*. 2014. doi:10.1111/camh.12022.
- 29. Canadian Paediatric Society. Issues of care for hospitalized youth. *Paediatr Child Heal*. 2008;13(1):61-64.
- Sawyer SM, Azzopardi PS, Wickremarathne D, Patton GC. The age of adolescence. *Lancet Child Adolesc Heal*. 2018;2(3):223-228. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S2352-4642(18)30022-1.
- Heaton PA, Routley C, Paul SP. Caring for young adults on a paediatric ward. *Br J Nurs*. 2013;22(19):1129-1134.
- 32. Department of Health. Framework for the assessment of children in need and their families. https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130404002518/https://www.educatio n.gov.uk/publications/eOrderingDownload/Framework for the assessment of

children in need and their families.pdf. Published 2004.

- Royal College of Nurses. Adolescent transition care: Guidance for nursing staff. https://www.rcn.org.uk/professional-development/publications/pub-004510. Published 2013.
- 34. Viner R. Life stage : Adolescence. 2012. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach ment\_data/file/252658/33571\_2901304\_CMO\_Chapter\_8.pdf.
- Mental Health Commission of Canada. Advancing the mental health strategy for Canada: A framework for action (2017–2022).
- 36. Canadian Institute for Health Information. Health System Resources for Mental Health and Addictions Care in Canada. https://www.cihi.ca/sites/default/files/document/mental-health-chartbook-report-2019-en-web.pdf. Published 2019.
- 37. Singh SP, Evans N, Sireling L, Stuart H. Mind the gap : the interface between child and adult mental health services. *Psychiatr Bull*. 2005;29:292-294.
- 38. Blum RW, Garell D, Hodgman CH, et al. Transition from child-centered to adult health-care systems for adolescents with chronic conditions: A position pape rof the Society for Adolescent Medicine. *J Adolesc Heal*. 1993;14(7):570-576.
- Government of Canada. The human face of mental health and mental illness in Canada 2006. http://www.mooddisorderscanada.ca/documents/Publications/Human Face of Mental Illness in Canada\_EN.pdf. Published 2006.
- 40. Paul M, Ford T, Kramer T, Islam Z, Harley K, Singh SP. Transfers and transitions between child and adult mental health services. *Br J Psychiatry Suppl.* 2013;54:s36-40. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.112.119198.
- 41. Cappelli M, Davidson S, Racek J, et al. Transitioning Youth into Adult Mental

Health and Addiction Services: An Outcomes Evaluation of the Youth Transition Project. *J Behav Health Serv Res.* 2016;43(4):597-610. doi:10.1007/s11414-014-9440-9.

- Fegran L, Hall EOC, Uhrenfeldt L, Aagaard H, Ludvigsen MS. Adolescents' and young adults' transition experiences when transferring from paediatric to adult care: a qualitative metasynthesis. *Int J Nurs Stud.* 2014;51(1):123-135. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2013.02.001.
- Lindgren V, Soderberg S, Skar L. The gap in transition between child and adolescent psychiatry and general adult psychiatry. *J Child Adolesc Psychiatr Nurs*. 2013;26(2):103-109.
- 44. Murcott WJ. Transitions between child and adult mental health services: Service design, philosophy and meaning at uncertain times. *J Psychiatr Ment Health Nurs*. 2014;21(7):628-634.
- 45. Canadian Association of Paediatric Health Centres. Access & wait times in child and youth mental health: A background paper. http://www.excellenceforchildandyouth.ca/sites/default/files/resource/policy\_acces s\_and\_wait\_times.pdf. Published 2010.
- Lotstein DS, Ghandour R, Cash A, McGuire E, Strickland B, Newacheck P. Planning for health care transitions: Results from the 2005-2006 national survey of children with special health care needs. *Pediatrics*. 2009;123(1):e145-e152.
- Davis M. Addressing the needs of youth in transition to adulthood. *Adm Policy Ment Health.* 2003;30(6):495-509.
- 48. American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnositic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5)*.; 2013. https://books.google.ca/books?hl=en&lr=&id=-JivBAAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PT18&dq=diagnostic+and+statistical+manual+of+mental+#v=onepage&q=diagnostic and statistical manual of mental&f=false.
- 49. Smetanin P, Stiff D, Briante C, Adair C., Ahmad S, Khan M. The Life and

Economic Impact of Major Mental Illnesses in Canada: 2011 to 2041. https://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/sites/default/files/MHCC\_Report\_Base\_ Case\_FINAL\_ENG\_0\_0.pdf. Published 2011.

- Christie KA, Burke JDJ, Regier DA, Rae DS, Boyd JH, Locke BZ. Epidemiologic evidence for early onset of mental disorders and higher risk of drug abuse in young adults. *Am J Psychiatry*. 1988;145(8):971-975. doi:10.1176/ajp.145.8.971.
- Rockhill C, Kodish I, Dibattisto C, Macias M, Varley C, Ryan S. Anxiety Disorders in Children and Adolescents. *YMPS*. 2010;40(4):66-99. doi:10.1016/j.cppeds.2010.02.002.
- Merikangas KR, He J-P, Burstein M, et al. Lifetime Prevalence of Mental Disorders in US Adolescents: Results from the National Comorbidity Study-Adolescent Supplement (NCS-A). *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. 2010;49(10):980-989. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2010.05.017.Lifetime.
- 53. Merikangas KR, Nakamura EF, Kessler RC. Epidemiology of mental disorders in children and adolescents. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci*. 2009;11(1):7-20.
- Gogtay N, Vyas NS, Testa R, Wood SJ, Pantelis C. Age of onset of schizophrenia: perspectives from structural neuroimaging studies. *Schizophr Bull*. 2011;37(3):504-513. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbr030.
- Kessler RC, Amminger GP, Aguilar-Gaxiola S, Alonso J, Lee S, Ustün TB. Age of onset of mental disorders: a review of recent literature. *Curr Opin Psychiatry*. 2007;20(4):359-364. doi:10.1097/YCO.0b013e32816ebc8c.
- 56. Girolamo G De, Dagani J, Purcell R, Cocchi A, Mcgorry PD. Age of onset of mental disorders and use of mental health services : needs , opportunities and obstacles. *Epidmeiology Psychiatr Sci.* 2012;21:47-57. doi:10.1017/S2045796011000746.
- Merikangas KR, He J-P, Burstein ME, et al. Service Utilization for Lifetime Mental Disorders in U.S. Adolescents: Results of the National Comorbidity Survey

Adolescent Supplement (NCS-A) HHS Public Access. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. 2011;50(1):32-45. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2010.10.006.

- Crowley R, Wolfe I, Lock K, Mckee M. Improving the transition between paediatric and adult healthcare : a systematic review. 2011:548-553. doi:10.1136/adc.2010.202473.
- 59. Canadian Institute for Health Information. Community mental health and addiction information: A snapshot of data collection and reporting in Canada. https://secure.cihi.ca/free\_products/CIHI-comm-mental-health-en-web.pdf. Published 2017.
- Causey DL, McKay M, Rosenthal C, Darnell C. Assessment of hospital-related stress in children and adolescents admitted to a psychiatric inpatient unit. *J Child Adolesc Psychiatr Nurs*. 1998;11(4):135-145.
- Moses T. Adolescents ' Perspectives About Brief Psychiatric Hospitalization : What is Helpful and What is Not ? *Pyschiatric Q*. 2011;82:121-137. doi:10.1007/s11126-010-9151-1.
- Case BG, Olfson M, Marcus SC, Siegel C. Trends in the Inpatient Mental Health Treatment of Children and Adolescents in US Community Hospitals Between 1990 and 2000. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. 2007;64:89-96.
- Greenham SL, Persi J. The State of Inpatient Psychiatry for Youth in Ontario : Results of the ONCAIPS Benchmarking Survey. 2014;(February):31-37.
- Geller JL, Biebel K. The Premature Demise of Public Child and Adolescent Inpatient Psychiatric Beds Part I: Overview and Current Conditions. *Psychiatr Q*. 2006;77:251-271. doi:10.1007/s11126-006-9012-0.
- 65. United Nations. Convention on the rights of the child.https://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/crc.aspx. Published 1990.
- 66. McGilloway S, Donnelly M, Scott D. Teenagers in adult psychiatric inpatient care

in Northern Ireland. Ir J Psych Med. 2000;17(2):54-58.

- 67. Limb M. More children are being treated on adult psychiatric wards investigatin shows. *Br Med J*. 2014;348(g):1725.
- Park C, Mcdermott B, Loy J, Dean P. CHILD AND ADOLESCENT PSYCHIATRY Adolescent admissions to adult psychiatric units: patterns and implications for service provision. 2011. doi:10.3109/10398562.2011.601311.
- Wheatley MD, Long CGL, Dolley O. Transitions of females from adolescent secure to adult secure services: A qualitative pilot project. *J Ment Heal*. 2013;22(3):207-217.
- Dean L, Black S. Exploring the experiences of young people nursed on adult wards. *Br J Nurs*. 2015;24(4):16-23.
- Murcott W. A scoping review of care received by young people aged 16-25 when admitted to adult mental health hospital wards. *J Public Ment Health*. 2016;15(4):216-228.
- Richards M, Vostanis P. Interprofessional perspectives on transitional mental health services for young people aged 16 19 years. *J Interprof Care*. 2004;18(2):115-128. doi:10.1080/13561820410001686882.
- 73. Mulvale GM, Nguyen TD, Miatello AM, Embrett MG, Wakefield PA, Randall GE. Lost in transition or translation ? Care philosophies and transitions between child and youth and adult mental health services : a systematic review. *J Ment Heal*. 2016:1-10. doi:10.3109/09638237.2015.1124389.
- 74. Worrall A, O 'herlihy A, Banerjee S, et al. Inappropriate admission of young people with mental disorder to adult psychiatric wards and paediatric wards: cross sectional study of six months' activity. doi:10.1136/bmj.38058.605787.AE.
- 75. Mental Health Commission of Canada. Changing directions changing lives: The mental health strategy for Canada.

http://strategy.mentalhealthcommission.ca/pdf/strategy-images- en.pdf. Published 2012.

- Canadian Institute for Health Information. About CIHI. https://www.cihi.ca/en/about-cihi. Published 2018.
- 77. Canadian Institute for Health Information. Discharge abstract database metadata (DAD). https://www.cihi.ca/en/discharge-abstract-database-metadata. Published 2017.
- SickKids. Acute Inpatient Day Hospital and Emergency Care (AIDE). http://www.sickkids.ca/psychiatry/AIDE/index.html.
- 79. Ontario Shores. Adolescent Inpatient Services. https://www.ontarioshores.ca/cms/One.aspx?pageId=7089.
- London Health Sciences Centre. Child and Adolescent Mental Health Care Program.
- 81. Grand River Hospital. Child and Adolescent Inpatient Mental Health. http://www.grhosp.on.ca/care/services-departments/mental-health-addiction/childand-adolescent-inpatient-mental-health. Published 2018.
- Kingston General Hospital. Inpatient Services (Child & Adolescent). http://www.kgh.on.ca/mental-health-care/inpatient-services-child-adolescent. Published 2018.
- Stats Canada. How Postal Codes Map to Geographic Areas. http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/92f0138m/2007001/4144811-eng.htm. Published 2007.
- Andrews G, Slade T, Peters L. Classification in psychiatry: ICD-10 versus DSM-IV. Editorial. *Br J Psychiatry*. 1999;174(JAN.):3-5. doi:10.1192/bjp.174.1.3.
- 85. Andrews G, Slade T. The Classification of Anxiety Disorders in ICD-10 and

DSM-IV: A Concordance Analysis. *Psychopathology*. 2002;35(2-3):100-106. https://www.karger.com/DOI/10.1159/000065127.

- Hudziak J, Achenbach T, Althoff R, Pine D. A dimensional approach to developmental psychopathology. *Int J Methods Psychiatr Res*. 2007;16(S1):S16-S23. doi:10.1002/mpr.
- Canadian Institute for Health Information. Health indicators 2011. https://secure.cihi.ca/free\_products/health\_indicators\_2011\_en.pdf. Published 2012.
- Barker D, Jairam R, Rocca A, Goddard L, Matthey S. Why do Adolescents Return to an Acute Psychiatric Unit? *Australas Psychiatry*. 2010;18(6):551-555. doi:10.3109/10398562.2010.501380.
- Vigod S, Kurdyak P, Seitz D, et al. READMIT: A clinical risk index to predict 30day readmission after discharge from acute psychiatric units. *J Psychiatr Res*. 2015;61:205-213.
- 90. Jiménez RE, Lam RM, Marot M, Delgado A. Observed-predicted length of stay for an acute psychiatric department, as an indicator of inpatient care inefficiencies. Retrospective case-series study. *BMC Health Serv Res.* 2004;4(1):4. doi:10.1186/1472-6963-4-4.
- Masters GA, Baldessarini RJ, Öngür D, Centorrino F. Factors associated with length of psychiatric hospitalization. *Compr Psychiatry*. 2014;55(3):681-687. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.comppsych.2013.11.004.
- Brook M, Hilty DM, Liu W, Hu R, Frye MA. Discharge against medical advice from inpatient psychiatric treatment: A literature review. *Psychiatr Serv*. 2006;57(8):1192-1198.
- 93. Newcombe RG. Two-sided confidence intervals for the single proportion: comparison of seven methods. *Stat Med.* 1998;17(8):857-872.

- 94. Zou G. A Modified Poisson Regression Approach to Prospective Studies with Binary Data. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2004;159(7):702-706. doi:10.1093/aje/kwh090.
- McNutt LA, Wu C, Xue X, Hafner JP. Estimating the relative risk in cohort studies and clinical trials of common outcomes. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2003;157(10):940-943. doi:10.1093/aje/kwg074.
- 96. Reardon T, Harvey K, Baranowska M, Brien DO, Smith L, Creswell C. What do parents perceive are the barriers and facilitators to accessing psychological treatment for mental health problems in children and adolescents ? A systematic review of qualitative and quantitative studies. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. 2017;26(6):623-647. doi:10.1007/s00787-016-0930-6.
- 97. Hines AL, Barrett ML, Jiang J, Steiner CA. Conditions with the largest number f adult hospital readmissions by payer, 2011 - Statistical brief #172. https://www.hcup-us.ahrq.gov/reports/statbriefs/sb172-Conditions-Readmissions-Payer.jsp. Published 2014.
- Southern WN, Nahvi S, Arnsten JH. Increased risk of mortality and readmission among patients discharged against medical advice. *Am J Med.* 2012;125(6):594-602. doi:10.1016/j.amjmed.2011.12.017.
- 99. Children's Mental Health Ontario. Backlog at community-based child and youth mental health centres sends kids to hospitals at alarming rates. http://eenet.ca/sites/default/files/pdfs/New CIHI Data - Ontario - CMHO 2017.pdf. Published 2017.
- 100. Institute for Clinical Evaluative Sciences. The mental health of children and youth in Ontario: 2017 scorecard. https://www.ices.on.ca/Publications/Atlases-and-Reports/2017/MHASEF. Published 2017.
- Viner R. Do adolescent inpatient wards make a difference? Findings from a national young patient survey. *Pediatrics*. 2007;120(4):749-755.
- 102. Mulye TP, H MP, Park MJ, et al. Trends in Adolescent and Young Adult Health in

the United States. *J Adolesc Heal*. 2010;45(1):8-24. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2009.03.013.

103. Sadeghi N, Abdeyazdan Z, Motaghi M, Rad MZ, Torkan B. Satisfaction levels about hospital wards' environment among adolescents hospitalized in adult wards vs. pediatric ones. *Iran J Nurs Midwifery Res.* 2012;17(6):430-433. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23922584.

# Appendices

# Appendix A: Excluded Diagnoses

DSM-IV Diagnosis				
Diagnostic Code	Diagnosis	Sample Size		
2900	Dementia of the Alzheimers type with late onset Uncomplicated	1		
2948	Dementia NOS or Amnestic Disorder NOS	1		
30011	Conversion Disorder	7		
3007	Hypochondriasis or Body Dysmorphic Disorder	2		
30082	Somatoform Disorder NOS, Undifferentiated Somatoform Disorder	2		
3009	Unspecified Mental Disorder (nonpsychotic)	7		
3022	Pedophila	1		
30270	Sexual Dysfunction NOS	2		
30780	Pain Disorder Associated With Psychological Factors	1		
317	Mild Mental Retardation	5		
319	Mental Retardation, Severity Unspecified	19		
V1581	Noncompliance With Treatment	1		
V6120	Parent-Child Relational Problem	10		
V6289	Phase of Life Problem, Religious or Spiritual Problem or	2		

	Borderline Intellectual Functioning		
V652	Malingering		2
V7101 Adult Antisocial Behavior			1
V7102	Child or Adolescent Antisocial Behavior		6
V7109	No Diagnosis or Condition on Axis I or Axis II		18
	ICD-10 Diagnosis		
Diagnostic Code	Diagnosis	Sa	mple Size
F050	Delirium not superimposed on dementia, so described		2
F058	Other delirium		2
F059	Delirium, unspecified		15
F060	Organic hallucinosis		1
F063	Organic mood [affective] disorders		5
F067	Mild cognitive disorder		1
F068	Other specified mental disorders due to brain damage and dysfunction and to physical disease	4	
F069	Unspecified mental disorder due to brain damage and dysfunction and to physical disease	3	
F072	Postconcussional syndrome		27
F078	Other organic personality and behavioural disorders due to brain disease, damage and dysfunction		1

F079	Unspecified organic personality and behavioural disorder due to brain disease, damage and dysfunction	1
F09	Unspecified organic or symptomatic mental disorder	4
F440	Dissociative amnesia	1
F442	Dissociative stupor	1
F444	Dissociative motor disorders	2
F445	Dissociative convulsions	77
F446	Dissociative anaesthesia and sensory loss	2
F448	Other dissociative [conversion] disorders	6
F449	Dissociative [conversion] disorder, unspecified	108
F450	Somatization disorder	6
F452	Hypochondriacal disorder	3
F453	Somatoform autonomic dysfunction	2
F454	Persistent somatoform pain disorder	11
F458	Other somatoform disorders	8
F459	Somatoform disorder, unspecified	6
F481	Depersonalization-derealization syndrome	1
F510	Nonorganic insomnia	1
F512	Nonorganic disorder of the sleep-wake schedule	1

F513	Sleepwalking [somnambulism]	1
F515	Nightmares	1
F519	Nonorganic sleep disorder, unspecified	2
F531	Severe mental and behavioural disorders associated with the puerperium, not elsewhere classified	1
F54	Psychological and behavioural factors associated with disorders or diseases classified elsewhere	22
F59	Unspecified behavioural syndromes associated with physiological disturbances and physical factors	1
F642	Gender identity disorder of childhood	1
F649	Gender identity disorder, unspecified	4
F659	Disorder of sexual preference, unspecified	1
F700	Mild mental retardation With the statement of no, or minimal, impairment of behaviour	3
F701	Mild mental retardation with significant impairment of behaviour requiring attention or treatment	10
F708	Mild mental retardation with Other impairments of behaviour	2
F709	Mild mental retardation with without mention of impairment of behaviour	14
F711	Moderate mental retardation with significant impairment of behaviour requiring attention or treatment	5

F718	Moderate mental retardation with Other impairments of behaviour	2
F719	Moderate mental retardation Without mention of impairment of behaviour	6
F721	Severe mental retardation with significant impairment of behaviour requiring attention or treatment	2
F729	Severe mental retardation Without mention of impairment of behaviour	1
F731	Profound mental retardation with Significant impairment of behaviour requiring attention or treatment	1
F739	Profound mental retardation Without mention of impairment of behaviour	2
F781	Other mental retardation with significant impairment of behaviour requiring attention or treatment	1
F799	Unspecified mental retardation Without mention of impairment of behaviour	13
F99	Mental disorder, not otherwise specified	10
## Curriculum Vitae

Name:	Samantha McRae
Post-secondary Education and Degrees:	Western University London Ontario, Canada 2016-2019 (anticipated) M.Sc. Epidemiology & Biostatistics
	McMaster University Hamilton, Ontario, Canada 2013-2014 M.Sc. Global Health
	Brock University St. Catharines, Ontario, Canada 2009-2013 B.A. Child Health
Honours and Awards:	Western Graduate Research Scholarship 2016-2017, 2017-2018
	Distinguished Graduating Student Award – Brock University 2013
	Queen Elizabeth Aiming for the Top Scholarship 2009-2012
Related Work Experience	Co-Design Lead and Educator Huron Perth Healthcare Alliance 2018-Present
	Teaching Assistant Brock University 2018
	Project Manager & Research Coordinator McMaster University 2017- 2018
	Research Assistant St. Joseph's Healthcare London 2017

## **Publications:**

Mulvale, G., McRae, S.A., Milic, S. (2017). Teasing apart "the tangled web" of influence of policy dialogues: Lessons from a case study of dialogues about healthcare reform options for Canada. *Implementation Science*, *12*(1), 96-112.

## **Presentations:**

**McRae, S.A.,** Speechley, K., Sukhera, J., Zou, G.Y., Anderson, K.K. (2018, September). 'Such a scary place for a kid': The impact of adolescent hospitalization on adult psychiatric units. *Mental HealthResearch & Innovation Half Day*. London, Ontario. (poster)

**McRae, S.A.,** Speechley, K., Sukhera, J., Zou, G.Y., Anderson, K.K. (2018, May). 'Such a scary place for a kid': The impact of adolescent hospitalization on adult psychiatric units. *Canadian Academy of Psychaitric Epidemiology Annual Scientific Symposium*. Toronto, Ontario. (poster)

**McRae, S.A.,** Speechley, K., Zou, G.Y., Anderson, K.K. (2018, April). 'Such a scary place for a kid': The impact of adolescent hospitalization on adult psychiatric units. *London Health Research Day*. London, Ontario. (oral)

**McRae, S.A.,** & Anderson, K. K. (2017, September). Factors Affecting Inpatient Psychiatric Readmissions for Youth with Mental Disorders: A Systematic Review. *Canadian Association for Psychiatric Epidemiologists*. Ottawa, Ontario. (poster)

Sleeth L, Wolfe DL, Kras-Dupuis A, Marrocco S, Jeske S, **McRae S**. (2016, Sept) Initial user feedback on an online, theory-based bladder self-management program for people with spinal cord injury (SCI). 55<sup>th</sup> ISCoS Annual Scientific Meeting. Vienna, Austria. (poster)